THOMAS GRAY THOMPSO?

THE ACTHON, although a native Oklaloman, has spent every summer, since 1945, in the San Juan Area, where he owns a home in Lake City, Colorado, Inc. and Colorado, and Alexando, and Colorado, and Alexando, and and and antical and antical a



Lake City, Colorado

An Early Day

Social & Cultural History

THOMAS CRAY THOMBSON



Lake City, Colorado

An Early Day Social and Cultural History

Thomas Gray Thompson, Ph.D.

GUNNISON, COLORADO

Caracha Cara

Copyright © 1974

By Thomas Gray Thompson, Ph.D.

All Rights Reserved

Library of Congress

Catalog Card Number 74-81957

Printed in the United States of America
FIRST EDITION, June 1974

Designed and Manufactured by METRO PRESS, Inc. 1223 Linwood Boulevard, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73106



LAKE CITY is located in the exact center of the southwest quarter of clorando. His in a small grassy valley at the confluence of Henson Creek and the Lake Fork of the Gamaison River. It is surrounded by giant peaks of the San Juan Range of the Colorado Rockies. Four miles southeast of town is Lake San Cristobal, the largest natural lake in the state, and sity miles farther in this direction is Creech, souther of the early mining

The senery around Lake City is picturesque. Rugged snow-capped peaks rise above timbeline to over 14,000 feet from lesser mountains covered with spruce and appen. Swift mountain streams rush down to feed Henson Creek which russ through a deep, colorid canyon to join the Lake Fork of the Cunnion River. The climate is mild in summer, but in winter the streams and lakes are frozen, and the snowfall from December to April blocks passage on the trails and closes high mountain roads to motorized travel.

Two highways permit access from the south and the north, while narrow jeep trails lead to "ghost" towns, abandoned mines, and deserted

miner's cabins of the San Juan area.

The town itself still bears the landmarks of its colorful past. Tall mountain controscots, planted by the first stutten, line Sive Street and Gannison Avenue, the main thoroughfares, fire-blackered soil marks the windowless store was like identified in conventiones as, a bank, a lodge hall, and a blackmith shop still remain. Modern merchandise fills the shelves of some original business buildings, and goodine pumps have replaced to deep the ravages of time and rouged weather, while a freshly pointed to deep the ravages of time and rouged weather, while a freshly pointed project fence defines the ground to all mannion of the gold and silver era. The Peuslysterian Church bell swings in its original bell sweer to peal the result of colors and the street of the Catholic Church bigd on

The neon signs and the modern tourist courts have mushroomed in recent years, and the paved highway from Gunnisor cuts distance each summer; yet, when the last tourist station wagon leaves, when the last hunter rides out with game for the winter and anters for trophies, then the Lake Cityan who knew the gold and silver runh days, or, whose parents have beepeated him at legacy of memories and lengents, turns to the Lake City of less than at humber than the contraction of the contracti

the miners, "another spring, another hope."

The early history of Lake City was fraught with alternate periods of excitement and excessive mining activity, coupled with priords of disappointment. The extreme relations of the couple of the priords of disappointment. The extreme relations of the couple of the coup

mining camps as Capital City, Sherman, Animas Forks and White Cross have long since become "ghast" towns, denotes an indefinable quality of strength and stability. Those who agree with the latter opinion reason that the social and cultural patterns so the carry leaders engendered a quality of endurance and faith in the future. Concurring in this opinion, M. K. Mott, an early resident, said:

I am like the miners, for I still believe that some "next spring" that wonderful gold vein will be found and that the beautiful mountain town of Lake City will once again be teeming with life. It is a wise Providence that arranged the gold and silver so that one generation does not get it all.

Oklahoma City, Okla.

Thomas Gray Thompson

Contents

Preface		V
Chapter I	The Lure of Gold and Silver	1
Chapter II	Wagon, Stage, Rail and Snowshoes	5
Chapter III	Spreading the News	8
Chapter IV	Man's Work and God's World	18
Chapter V	The Three R's and More	31
Chapter VI	Public Pleasures	38
Chapter VII	At Home in Lake City	55
Chapter VIII	Civic Clubs and Duties	5
Chapter IX	The Other Side of Society	6
Epilogue		7
Bibliography		7



Chapter 1

The Lure of Gold and Silver

THE UTE NDIANS prevented white settlement in San Juan mining region prior to 1874, James Harrison, J. K. Millen, and Corrego Boughton region prior to 1874, James Harrison, J. K. Millen, and Corrego Boughton established a temporary camp near the mouth of Henson Creek in 1889 in the case of the control of t

In June, 1874, the Colorado territorial legislature created Hinsdale County, naming it for George A. Hinsdale, prominent Pueblo attorney and Lieutenant Governor of Colorado in 1865. The county seat was San Juan City in Antelone Park.

Prospectors and miners came slowly to the new county until the spring of 1875. In November of the protons year. Enos. IT Hothsky, while leading a road survey party over the divide from Saganche, discovered the rich between the proton of the proton of the proton of the proton of the Dose the name. He Godden Fleece, and news of its discovery started the first great roads to the Lake City Valley. Later that same year, land specialtor. Enganels Entrolls, B. A. Sherman, Flundy Sparing and others laid out the Lake City townsite and entreed it in the Land Office at DN Norte. The Computer of the Computer of the Computer of the Computer of the Heart Springer of the Computer of the Computer of the Computer of the Heart Springer of the Computer of

History was made rapidly in Lake City as new lodes were discovered and prospectors and exterter streamed in, especially from the East. Immi-grants settled in the valley, rather than in San Juan City, so, early in the fall, at a special election, the vetter ediedd to move the county scat to Lake City. By November, 1875, the town had sixty-seven completed buildings and about 400 inhabitiants. The Ure and Ulay mines, located by Joe Millin, Al Meade, and C. E. Gobbin, were producing ore, as was the Golden Flores and other mines in the area.

The Silver World, Lake City's pioneer newspaper, observed, "The influx of strangers is astonishing, not an hour passes but our streets are thronged with new faces; and, every day sees some new families who have pitched their tents in our midst." Henry Finley operated a large sawmill

to furnish lumber for the boom. Saloons and stores appeared almost like magic to entertain and to supply the newcomers.

People flocked to Lake City by the hundreds during the spring and summer of 1876. The Crooke brothers erected an ore concentration mill at the upper end of the town. Two new sawmills and a planing mill vainly tried to supply the demands for lumber. The local newspaper reported that:

Lots in town jumped from a mere nominal value to hundreds of oldiars. Buildings of every description: the rude cabin and enormous warebouse; the sanctuary and the gilded saloon; log, frame, brick, and adobe roso on every hand. The oldest residents could scarcely recognize the town after a week's absence. Nearly every luxury that gratifies the palate of New York and Chicago could be bought...

By mid-summer, 1876, the Lake City correspondent of the Rocky Monitor Netes estimated the population to be about 1,000, with 2,000 more along the creeks, and in nearby gold areas. Six to twelve wagons arrived daily, traveling over the Sagauche and San Juan 701 Road, bringing new settlers, many of whom camped only long enough to lay in supplies then moved on into the hills to prospect. Miners were scarce; prospectors

The first boom continued through 1877. The population expanded to over 2,000, including migratory prospectors who drifted from one mining camp to another One thousand muses were completed or under construction in a short time. By April, Lord Wood provided digls wagon service from Pueblo, to accommodate travellers, and others arrived by every means of conveyance them available.

The town completed the construction of the County Court House in June, 1877, at a cost of \$4,450. The two-story white frame building faced Hinsdale Street, between Third and Fourth. It contained five offices on the first floor, and two offices and a large courtroom on the second floor.

Insufficient enastured turity by saxty teet.

Life was not easy for the early comers, but, those who came to Lake
City during the first boom years found several stores which offered for
sale frealt eggs, butter, and garden vegetables, brought in from nearby
asic frealt eggs, butter, and garden vegetables, brought in from nearby
pound sack, but prices of locally produced stayles.

Life was not a function
pound sack, but prices of locally produced stayles, and the control of the cont

compensate for the altitude variance.

During the fall and winter of 1577-78, the first boom period in Lake
City's history ended. In 1878, the influx of fertume seekers yielded to a
first being the compensate of the contract of the compensate of the country, mines,
or mining, and nost had no special skills. The exodus of these men was
or mining, and nost had no special skills. The exodus of these men was
capital arrived and remained to establish the permanent towner. It will
compensate the compensate of the com

that, "Men here are intelligent, even aristocratic, many of them quote Shakespeare."

Early in 1880, the Silver World observed that,

Lake City has not grown as rapidly as many hoped, but it is on a sound basis. Mines are being developed and look better all the time. People are investing confidently in the mines, as their worth has been proven.

During the summer, new life and spirit was observed in Lake City, and the greatest mining boom in the town's history began. It laked until early 1882. The Ulay mine, the best in the immediate vicinity, as well as mines south of Lake City along the Lake Fork, were worked. In addition, Sherman and Burrows Park became bustling camps which depended on Lake City for sunniles.

Lake City ably furnished the needs of the area. The town now had seven lawyers, four doctors, one assayer, eight wagon makers and blacksmiths, ten saloon keepers, twenty-seven merchants, three bakers, five druggists, one banker and two engineers. Among the business establishments were three meat markets, two cigar-stationery stores, six saloons, ments were three meat markets, two cigar-stationery stores, six saloons, and seven grocery stores. A small ment shee stores, four hardware shops and seven grocery stores. A small continue to the store of the store of

Yet near the end of 1881, a decline of the second boom became aparent. The Denver and Rio Grande Railroad ceased construction to Lake City, due to financial stress; and the absence of cheap transportation lessened the value of the region's silver mines. A few new mines opened in the Engineer Mountain area during the summer of 1882, which some

In spite of the reduced economy, Hall and Felders Pharmacy boasted the first high marble sods fountain in Lake City. It was installed June 20, 1882. Of greater importance to the community, however, was the completion of the new Opera House, November 1, 1883. Located on the southeast corner of Third and Bluff Streets, the red brick structure measured one hundred twenty-five by fifty feet. Small club rooms formed

provided vacting and stage facilities for public entertainments.

The Ute and Ulay mines provided the stabilizing factor in the economy
of Lake City. No recession could be too severe, as long as these silver
mines operated at, or near, capacity, However, they dood in the fall of
1885; and Lake City dipped from hard times to a full scale depression.

1885; and Lake City dipped from hard times to a full scale depression.

1885; and lake City dipped from lard times to a full scale depression.

1887; 88.

when new mines opened and old discoveries were re-worked.

In August, 1889, the Denver and Ro Grands Rainwal completed its spur line from Sapinero to Lake City, "one of the deadest camps in Coforado." The rainwal brought a measure of prosperity, and stimulated mining operations for the next ten years. In 1890, twenty mines in the area shipped ever. The Ute and Ulay mines produced over \$400,000 in a case shipped ever. The Ute and Ulay mines produced over \$400,000 in the Oldowing year brought the discovery of rich new lodes in the Goldow. The following year brought the discovery of rich new lodes in the Goldow. The following year brought the discovery of rich new lodes in the Goldow.

In spite of the variance in economic stability, the town improved its facilities during the last decade of the century. In 1890 a municipal water system was installed with money raised through the sale of municipal

bonds. An electric power plant supplied homes and streets with electricity after 1891. Residents built new sidewalks and renovated houses and vards at regular intervals. The three mining booms which generated alternate periods of prosperity and depression, conditioned the permanent townspeople to a form of Stoicism which permitted them to proceed with long brought its influx of newcomers who remained to join with the permanent

Those who remained, optimistically and patiently awaited the next boom. They also built a society and community patterned after eastern models. They were not Utopians or radicals; but, men and women who honed to re-create a bit of their former life pattern, while increasing their prosperity in the mountains.

Chapter 11

Rail, Stage, Wagon and Snowshoes

IN AN ISOLATED mountain community such as Lake City, social and settlers throughout the San Juan realized this, and worked constantly for better roads and lines of communication. This was especially true in Lake City, since it was the supply point for Animas Forks, Silverton, Ouray, Mineral City, Capital City, and other smaller San Juan mining camps. This supply trade helped maintain Lake City during the years when mining was not profitable.

The first road to serve the Lake City valley was the Sagauche and San Juan Toll Road built under the direction of Enos T. Hotchkiss, A celebration by the people of Lake City and Del Norte greeted its opening in August, 1874. Prior to this only a rough 200 mile trail linked the two Road during the summer of 1875 cut the distance over the Continental Divide from Del Norte to Lake City in half and was heralded by another celebration in Lake City. The immigrants of 1876-78, traveling by twohorses and wagon, paid a three dollar toll to use the new road, if the

weather permitted In July, 1875, Barlow and Sanderson's Stage Line began tri-weekly coach service from Sagauche to Silverton, via Lake City. The missionary journeys to Lake City. George Darley later recalled.

Travelling in the San Juan was not considered great pleasure by many, partly because of the poor condition of most of the roads. teristic of the roads. Curves were very sharp, for that reason four horses were all that one stage driver could handle.

Despite the hardships, the Silver World found many attractive features the editor found what he thought to be "many health restoring consti-

The new roads brought so many settlers that mail service was soon established. Stephen A. Dole received his commission as Lake City's first postmaster in July, 1875. He established a post office on upper Gunnison Avenue, and the town was invited to help celebrate the event in an open house on July 1, 1875. Barlow and Sanderson's Stage Line carried the mail to Lake City and Silverton in leather sacks strapped on top of the tri-weekly the mail was carried by men on sleds or on snowshoes.

Snowshoes were also used to carry the mail from Lake City to Silverton and Ouray. Service was started to Ouray in January, 1877. Horses

In April, 1877 Barlow and Sanderson began daily passenger and mail

The road was icv and steep: far below was the bottom of the canyon; the stage driver swished around the curves at a perilous rate. The coach careened from side to side.

The two roads were bringing a constant stream of humanity, by foot, horse, wagon, and coach to the San Juan.

Nearby camps were served by local freighters. Heavy loads, rough spiked shoes and oxen and horses to combat mud, snow and ice. At best freighting was a difficult job. In April, 1877, Oatman and Franklin's

Through the summer, F. C. Garbutt and J. J. Abbott directed the construction of the Henson Creek and Uncompangre Toll Road. It ran west Ouray. The road was completed and opened August 1, 1877. It constituted the only good wagon road connecting these points with the outside world. In June, 1880, the road to the Gunnison valley was opened giving Lake City an excellent outlet to the north. Several excursions between Lake and returned the following day. Thus within its first two years, Lake City

became the focal point of the roads leading into the San Juan mining area. 5:40 P.M., November 4, 1879. D. W. Bouton, the Lake City operator, sent a short greeting to the Governor at that time. The state leader returned a

Two years later, in May, 1881, the first telephone message was sent from Lake City. During the summer, the lines were extended up Henson towns in the San Juan. From the beginning, the telephone business was

The telephone was used, not only for business, but for pleasure and entertainment. During the winter, telephone concerts were regular and operator, and Mrs. George Lee at Capital City inaugurated the concert Cabin, Silverton, and Ouray joined in while the listeners enjoyed the of October 20, 1881, was given in detail by the Silver World:

Amateur and professional artists gathered in Silverton, Baker's Park, the entertainment. A vocal and harmonica solo by Judge R. F. Long of

This was followed by a flute solo by David Reed in Ouray: a violin solo by W. Champlin at Rose's Cabin; a concert by a Silverton Choral Group; and Hilgenhaus entertained the listeners with a zither solo; and William Kellogg horn solo by W. P. Harbottle and several songs by a local quartette. These

There were no great improvements in Lake City's transportation and made a survey the next year. Work on the line was started, but financial

Completion of the railroad brought new life to Lake City. Throughout the 1890's there were two trains daily from Sapinero. These carried freight and passengers and stimulated the prosperity of Lake City during the each was completed; and, without the toll roads and later the railroad, Lake City could not have enjoyed the prosperity which enabled it to develon as it did.

Chapter III

Spreading the News

THE CONVERSION OF A TOWN site into a settled community was not instantaneous; nor, was the attraction of a resident population automatic. Yet, during the early years in Lake City, the continuing efforts of local promoters, and the lure of anticipated profits, resulted in the establishment of a permanent basis for future town life.

Placer miner: constituted the balk of the population in the earlies years. They followed the lure of gold from one district to another, remaining in one area only until news of a better "strike" lured them elsewhere. With claims a peam and a pick the prospectors could determine the value of their claims a peam and a pick the prospectors could determine the value of their claims a peam and a pick the prospectors could determine the value of their claims are peam and the prospectors of the prospectors of

Early mountain town developers knew that permanent development of their projects would depend on a more enduring basis for continuing settlement. Consequently, they welcomed, and often sponsored the arrival of pioneer newspaper editors, who were among the first settlers. The paper they issued would, hopefully, athertise the area and call residents with investment mining caustial.

For the first fifteen wars of its histor, Labe City was served by five newspapers. The Silver World zan continuously, from 1875 to 1888, when it became the Sentinel, In less than a years from 1875 to 1888, when a most immediately revived as the Hundled Phonography paper, the San hand Crencent, was unable to compete with the Silver World in 18777-83 and the Crencent, was unable to compete with the Silver World in 1877-87, and the different mountered paper, the Labe City Mining Register, was active during the Grass after 1850. In 1853, the eithor discontinued publishing this worlds/by small red 1850, the eithor discontinued publishing this worlds/by small red 1850, the eithor discontinued publishing this worlds/by small red 1850, the eithor discontinued publishing this worlds/by small red 1850, the eithor discontinued publishing this worlds/by small red 1850, the eithor discontinued publishing this worlds/by small red 1850, the eithor discontinued publishing this worlds/by small red 1850, the eithor discontinued publishing the small red 1850,

No newspaper was published in Lake City in 1890; but, the next year two papers were started which served the community until after the turn of the century. These were the Lake City Times and the Lake City Phonograph.

To Mears was largely responsible for starting Lake City's, as well as the Western Stoppe's, first a newspaper, the Sifeer World, Mears reasoned that his toll roads and land disvestments would pay only if minors and settles from the East and disvestments would pay only if minors and settles from the East plans. Since large-scale advertising in eastern papers was expensive, Mears concluded that small, local papers would best serve the San Juan. They could supply interested readers with information on mining camps and provide local news for the

area residents. Local papers would have the added advantage of being largely self-supporting. Consequently, in 1872, one year after the construction of the toll road west from Sagouche had been started. Mears financed the Sagouche Chronicle. Soon after the road was completed to Lake City, Mears persuaded Harry M. Woods and Clark L. Peyton to edit a Lake City, apaper, the Sideew World. So sound was Mears' reasoning, that some declare

During the spring of 1575. Words and Peyton had the material for the weap parely modified in from Saganche by wagen. An office was established on Silver Street in a log tables which had a durf flor and sod roof. Eleven with thir on line 10; 1675. the first times of the Silver World appeared with thir on line 10; 1675. the first times of the Silver World appeared with the part of the silver time of the battwe are still happy. We could have made it more readable, but we were axison to get it out. 'So amonius were the editors to distribute, as well as to publish the paper without delay, that H. M. Woods carried the mail of the silver world in the probable of the mean part of the Del Nort. Il 11 Silver World on bromback to the nearest post office.

Amay subscribers in the area, and a few over the nation, son joined Otto Mears, the first paying subscriber, as news, and interest in the region spread. By June, 1876, on the paper's first anniversary, there two controls 700 paid subscriptions. Firewood and produce were accepted in leave cash during the early years. Half-year subscriptions and single copies could also be obtained. Subscribers were clearly informed of the copies.

nd aims of the Silver World in its initial editoria

We dip our colors to the public to supply the needs of the San Juan Country for a paper. The Siliere World has now been inaugurated and now makes its bow. We don't believe that our mission is to make or now the supply of the s

The format of the first issue endured, with only minor alterations throughout the life of the Silver World. Page one was devoted to articles and stories from other sources. Such stories as, "The House that Bowen Bulk", and "Spoiled His Piety," were included on the first page of the June 19, 1875, issue. Historical comments, national and state news high-lights, and some mining news Hilled page two; page three contained local teins and more detailed regional mining news. The last page was devoted to humors, jeless, and south sorties as. The Filtriation. County legal notices.

Much space throughout the paper was devoted to focal advertising. During the first year over one-third of the paper, between eleven and thirteen columns, was devoted to advertisements. Some told the merits of the paper of attention to local and state merchants and stores. There was tiltle adversiting of national products until January, 1881; and none at all charing the first three years the upper was published. Eastly whole special attention was given to now advertises by including their notice under the headline. Now This continues the paper of the expansion in the camp during the early boom. Irregular advertisements cost \$1.50 per column-inch for each insertion; regular advertisements cost two dollars per column-inch each month. Rates for public notices were \$1.50 per column-inch for the first insertion and one dollar per column-inch for the strength of the subsequent insertions. Legal notices were twenty cents per line.

On take City ones to guarantee the control per mine of the City of

The editors had faith in America, the West and the future of Lake City. During the years the paper served the community, it constantly advised the citizenry of needed improvements and potential sources of new wealth in the area. As early as July, 1875, one editorial stated:

Those whose duty or inclination causes them to cross Gunnison Avenue aftern injult are in danger of breaking their necks by stumbling over the old roots standing therein. We suggest the appointment of some day as a general "frolic" for the removal of those nuisances. Two weeks later, the paper reported: "The residents on Gunnison Avenue turned out or masses or Inseday and removed most of the grobs and stumps from the street." Sifeev World editorials later called attention to the town's need for a fire company and a water system. These editorials also produced.

Islae City grew and improved, so did its newspaper. In August, 1875, the office was noved from theeld log cabin to the second story of the new Finels, Building, where it remained until May, 1876. These quarters were described as being as 'meat and commodious an office as any 1876, the second of the comparison of the second of the second

On September 13, 1876, Harry M. Woods, pioner editor of the paper, retired, and sold his half interest in the enterprise to Henry C. Olney, Clark L. Peyton remained with the paper, Olney and Peyton promised to continue to use the Silver World to develop and improve Lake City, Hinsdale County, and the San Juan. In October, the paper announced the

Olivay and Peyton expanded their paper as the community grew. They added an extra column to each page in December to accommendate more regional and mining news. In March, 1577, the special 'San Juan Supple added an extra colorectipes unpidement had been distributed. At the same time, the paper was given a new masthead — Silver World, Deceded to the Mining and Duberlott interests of the San Juan 'By pine, 1577, the the Mining and Duberlott interests of the San Juan 'By pine, 1577, the European countries. The load was too leavy for the old Washington hand press, so it was replaced with a new Campbell power press. The editors



THE ORIGINAL OFFICE OF SILVER WORLD, Lake City pioneer newspaper. Located on Silver Street, near the town's center. The original Washington Hand Press, used by the paper, is now located in The Cowboy Hall of Fame and Western Heritage Center in Oklahoma City, Okla.

gather news. By the summer of 1877, the Silver World had grown to a first class newspaper. News was complete and accurate, circulation was wide, and advertising was of high quality and reflected the growing economy of Lake City. By August. 1877, eight columns on each page were required to handle the volume of news and advertising; and the page size was increased to twenty-six by forty inches, compared to the former teventy-four by thirtytering the contraction of the contraction of

The Silver World continued to enlarge during most of 1878. Some empahsis was placed on news from Ouray and other mining areas in the San Juan. In January, a new type was used, which was clearer and much easier to read. The editors boasted that their paper was "the handsomest weekly in the state."

In March, 1878; Clark L. Peyton sold bis interest to his partner; Henry, C. Oliney, who was the sole owner and editor during the following nine years. The paper was cut to seven columns per page in November, 1878, but otherwise it changed very little. William Penn Harbottle joined the student of the hardon of the page of the property of the propert

experienced newspaperman. The news gathered by these men enabled the Silver World to boast that it contained more mining information than all the other papers of the San Juan combined.

The paper continued, with few changes, throughout the early eighties.

Editorially, it supported the Murphy Temperance movement and other campaigns designed to uplift community life. Editor Olney felt the collapse of the boom period in August, 1881, to be a good thing, because:

It portends a more stable, orderly future growth on a sound basis. Our towns have been largely deserted by the bad characters; snide operators have found their level and have been driven out by public sentiment or inability to longer ply their vocation; our business houses are now in fair proportion to the demands of the surrounding camps.

In August 1885, Olney leased the paper to A. R. Pelton, and subsequently, it changed hands several times, Glelon R. Peopper and James Glelon R. Peopper and James Glelon R. Peopper and James Galloway each edited and published the Silver World for Intid periods before Frank E. Daous tool charge in 1889. Daous changed the mone to the Southerd After less than a year, the paper, under this name, suppended publication. In 1899, Walter E. Menhembull rain the paper for nine months under the name, Hintedale Phonograph, The failure of this attempt coulder the fourteewaxes causes of the original Silver World.

It is not possible to measure accurately the value of the Silver World to the development and economy of Lake City during its first fourteen years; however, there can be little doubt that Otto Mears' reasoning was sound. The wide circulation of the paper, together with its high quality and accurate reporting of news, in all likelihood, attracted many settlers to the

an Juan and Lake City.

Soon after Harry M. Woods retired as editor of the Silver World.

he and Thomas Reynolds started another paper, the Sun Juna Crescon. The first issue was published July Ju 1877. The editors explained We propose to publish a first class weekly newsyaper in the town of Lake City. We are led to undertake the enterprise from a belieft that the control of the control of the control of the project of the stabilishment of many control of the project of the protor of the control of the project of the protor of the control of the project of the project of the internal country of mitteral country surrounding as, and to sail and controllet to the mitteral country surrounding as, and to sail and controllet to the

A job printing office was operated by the publishers in connection with the paper. The office was located on upper Commission Avenue, over which the paper. The office was located on upper Commission Avenue, over basing digitally smaller pages than the Silver Woolf. Arbertriany was pleasiful, but each notice was usual in comparison with those in the competitive commission of the commission of the competitive of the commission of the commissi

The year 1880 witnessed the start of the greatest boom in Lake City's history. The Crooke and Ocean Wave smelters were operating, and mines along the Lake Fork and Henson Creek were being worked. The Golden

Wonder mine received wide publicity, and that year miners and merchants

swelled Lake City's population to nearly 2,000.

Jame L. Downy felt that with the expanded-out cleaning. Lake City's proposed to the expanded-out cleaning the calculation of the expanded-out cleaning the calculation of the mining interests of San Juan, and, as he said, "eschewing politics of the calculation of the c

The Lake City Mining Register strarted with no subscribers. By Jamus 1, 1881, 000 people had paid the three foliar search race Offices were located on Third, near Silver Street. Downey always tried through the the San Jaman Approximation processing the San Jaman Approximation from the entire region. The Donner Tribune reported that Downey received over 5700 in contribution from the enterprising bestimence for Lake City, to pay for starting the commercial paper of the city, though local, clusters, social and the commercial paper of the city, though local, clusters, social and

educational news was not neglected.

The Lake City Mining Register grew and prospered for almost five years. On April 17, 1885, James F, Downey published the final issue. In an editorial he explained that he had received a liberal offer from new processors of the contractive of

The only year prior to 1917 that Lake City was not served by at least on weekly newspaper was 1890. Late in that year, a group of Lake City businessmen, headed by D. S. Hoffman, formed the Lake City Printing and Publishing Company, to supply the community's need for a paper. A. B. Arbuckle, formerly of Denver, was chosen to edit the new sheet.

The editor made it clear in the first issue that the paper would not be the tool of any person, faction, clique or gang; nor, would it favor any one political party or religious group over another. "The Lake City Times only expects to show Lake City to outside interests as a good place to invest

capital," said the paper's first editorial.

The format of the Times was not like the earlier papers. It contained

very little fiction and humor; instead, pages one and four were devoted to mining, local, personal and state news. Page two contained editorials, letters from the mining camps, and brief news items from the nation. The third page was devoted to the San Juan and Lake City news. Although the pager endured until 1917, the editors changed fre-

Although the paper endured until 1917, the editors changed trequently in April, 1891, W. J. Furse became editor and manager of the paper, when A. R. Arbuckle returned to Denver. Furse remained until May, when D. A. Farrell assumed his duties. Farrell kept the paper neutral in polities, but always for Lake City and free coinage. In September, 1891, O. H. Knight and W. J. Furse became joint editors and D. A. Farrell managed the paper. This team published the paper until the spring of 1893, when O. H. Knight assumed complete control.

Late in 1898, the Lake City Times became the Silver World and Lake City Times, edited by O. H. Knight. James G. Bates edited the paper in 1899 and 1900

While the Lake City Times was devoted primarily to mining news of the region and the crusacle for free coinage of silver, it occasionally entertained and amused its readers. In 1891, the usual preparations for the town's Independence Day celebration had been made. In reporting the plans, the Lake City Times added, as a joke, the story of some added attractions of the day. All were invited to join one of the exerusions to:

See Stop and Hitch's mammonth circus and Mullet Head's menagerie. These two attractions puts the entire Brifab Bill Wid West show and Charlie Davis' Burro-Leopard will be in Lake City July 4. Madame Estella Precilla de Francisco, the largest woman on earth, weekings 1800 pounds, will appear and ride a monster elephant. The most beautiful woman on earth severed at a salary of \$10,000 will be seen; as well as 15 charlots, 8 hons, 4 tigers, 1 hippopotamus, 85 dephants and many other wild and exwice insuiting.

No one was surprised when the day passed and was enjoyed in the usual manner, void of the special attractions announced in the Lake City Times.

The coming of the railroad in 1889, and the subsequent mining

During the 1890's two fine papers were published.

Soon after the Lake City. Times began serving Lake City, Waller E. Mendenhall, former editor of the Himsdool Phonograph, resentered the publishing business as editor of the new Lake City Phonograph. The paper user desconded from the original Silvers World, and was much like it in like the control of the c

Lake City's newspapers were uniformly high in quality and in content. They sought, above all, to advertise Lake City and the San Juan. All were widely read in southwest Colorado, and enjoyed a modest nationwise circulation. Their value to the development of the region by attracting settlers and capital cannot be measured abolutely, but it may safely be assumed that Lake City and the surrounding area developed more rapidly with the encouragement and support given by its newspapers. The phonese journalists saw it as their prime duty to promote the towns

investors

Chapter N

Man's Work and God's World

SINCE MOST PERMANINT authers came from areas of the United States where churches and religious services formed an integral part of society, it was not surprising that ministers also found a warm welcome among early residents, indeed, significant support sometimes came from unexpected ources. Pioneer ministers like George and Alexander Darley accepted frontier realities by skilling local salones, where they could find

Alexander Darley recalled that the "sporting characters" did not insult ministers, but "treated them respectfully." Often the tinkle of glasses, clatter of roulette wheels, and noise of poker chips could be heard between verses of, "Jesus, Lover of my Soul." sung by worshippers in the

could find a receptive audience.

could find a receptive authence. Yet, pioneer preachers envisioned more suitable quarters; and, in this they quickly gained the support of the resident merchant-professional populace. They agreed with Darley that organized congregations and church buildings were necessary "I God was to receive this due in List of City." Furthermore, churches would convey a tone of stability and respectations.

Still, the Rocky Mountain News found progress slow, as shown in

The Sabbath, with its heaven-refining influences has as yet made but little impression upon the rough social stratum of Lake City. Many of the stores and places of public resort remain open, and the voice of the chuck-a-luck dealer and auctioneer is heard abroad in the land. The church people are gaining ground slowly. however,

Yet, H. G. Heath, an early resident, affirmed that, "The decent element was present." The outcome was the early establishment of six churches: Presbyterian, Baptist, Christian, Methodist, Episcopal and

movements were begun within a short time.

The church bells of Lake City played a significant part in the town's early history. They called people to worship on Sunday, sounded the fire alarm, summoned the children to school, and tolled the number of years of the deceased as his cortege left the church for the cemetery. In fact,



The combination of the two elements which composed the populareported that in the 1890's the gamblers and saloon keepers donated part of each week's "take" to one of the churches in the town. Some of the men carried the money in a paper sack and went to the selected church. They front pew where they sat and waited for the collection plate to be passed.

Of the six denominations represented in Lake City during the early years, the Presbyterian faith, because of seniority, should perhaps receive first Protestant church building, not only in Lake City, but on the western slope of Colorado. It was completed and dedicated November 19, 1876.

The Reverend Alexander M. Darley, pastor of the Del Norte, Church, Prior to his arrival in the town, on June 17, 1876, he sent a packet of religious papers and tracts which were distributed by Henry Finley. and tent in the city and went six miles down the Gunnison River below the town and three miles above. He secured ten names to a petition to the

Presbytery of Colorado for the organization of a church in Lake City. 1876, at eleven A.M. Five additional names were presented for membership and these fifteen were recorded as the charter members. Six different denominations were represented and only five had been members of

At the morning service, Anna Silverton Taft, born July 29, 1875. the first baby born in Silverton, Colorado, was baptized. This constituted the first sacrament administered in Lake City. At this same service,

An organizational meeting was held following church services. After was appointed clerk of the meeting. The charter members, other than elected. The elders and deacons accepted the Conscription of Faith and Government of the Presbyterian Church and were duly declared an organ-

was built in 1877, and was Western Slope of Colorado

syterian Church on the used as a fire alarm. se, located at Fifth St. and Gunnison Ave. Gity, but the first Presbyterian Church on the to the city, which was used as a fire alarm.

> in the plans for the erection of what would be the first church edifice in Lake City. At this time the first church collection in Lake City was taken. The \$8.50 was used for contingent expenses, \$2.00 for use of Wade's oil and the purchase of a "Minutes Book." This meeting also marked the first appearance of a church choir in Lake City.

Following the evening services another business meeting adopted a adopted a constitution for the Board of Trustees and rules of finance The congregation made immediate plans to secure funds to build a church. Reverend Darley led the campaign and by Wednesday, June 21, cash and pledges amounting to 8518.75 had been received. The June 24 issue of the Silver World gave this account of these meetings:

The Charch voted to build a building, a church, since there is no contribuous or school building in Lake City where services can be held. Reverend Mr. Darley has been circulating a subscription paper for money, material and labor to build the church. He is not with an Mr. S. Wade and his partner donated a lot for a parsonage. The session has started a Wednesday evening prayer meeting the first in Lake City) and a Bhile School. The first evening prayer meeting the first in Lake City) and a Bhile School. The first evening prayer meeting the control of Lyon and Turner. Reverend Darley will supply this cheart a present ones a month, and buyes, soon to

Following the first prayer meeting, the Trustees ordered the purchase of two lots at Fifth Street and Gunnison Avenue. On August 13, 1876, Reverend Darley and his brother George came to Lake City to supervise the construction of the church. By November 12, the building was completed and ready for dedication.

The people of Lake City were proud of their first church. It was forty

. seating capacity of 170 which can be increased. The ceiling is made with half circle corners and there are eight windows with eight panes each. The walls are lined with adole for five feet from the floor and wainstoced with lumber, making the house real warm. The pers are of leavey nine, with moudded backs and paneled crist and the seating of the contribution of the person of

George Darley, having been made an Elder in September with authority to preach, received a commission as missionary for eight month from the Board of Home Missions in November and remained in Lake City as pastor until a regular minister could be secured. He held this position until 1890, and was a great influence for good in Lake City, In addition to the pastorate in Lake City, he and filled the pulpir in the Ourap Presbyterian Church, which he had organized. He made the rip between the two Engineer Pass. He recorded his encouriesce, in Pleaneries in the Son. Learn

The November 12 dedication service for the new church was not held as planned. Reverend Darley amounced that "he would not dedicate it (the church) while a dollar of debt remained." Of the \$800 yet to be raised, \$800 was subscribed that day and the remainder during the following week. Sunday, November 19, 1876, just a few months after the town was organized, the first church was dedicated. Edder George M. Darley

delivered the dedication sermon. It was followed by dedication and sacramental services conducted by Reverend Alexander M. Darley.

sacramental services conducted by Reverend Alexander M. Darley.
The ladies of the newly organized church promoted fund-raising
projects to purchase furnishings, including an organ. They held suppers
in Kostick and Kohler Hall on Houghland's Block, with entertainment
provided by local musicians. The first such entertainment given in Lake
to the church treasury, as, swell as to the social life of the renormantic

Mr. and Mrs. Theodore Little of Marshalltown, New Jersey, gave the church a bell in August, 1877. It was shipped, freight prepaid, to Pueblo. From there it was brought by team and wagon across the Continental

It was the first church bell in the town

The bell became a for the "The bell became a for the "The bell became a for all point of interest from the time it arrived and was put in place by church volunteers. It could be heard for miles around, Men said, "As we came toward the camp, we heard the sound of a camp, we heard the sound of a camp, the said, "As we came toward the camp, we heard the sound of a camp, the said, "As we came to work the said, "As we came to work the said, "As we can be said, "The history making bell was replaced in 1882 when it hake City." This history making bell was replaced in 1882 when it is the said of the said of

The Presbyterian congregation built a parsonage on the lot adjoining the church in the spring of 1879. On May 9 of that year, Reverend Darley invited his friends to a housewarming in the new manse; seventy-five guests came. Social games were played, skilled vocalists sang, and ladies provided

refreshments of coffee, cake and apple tarts.

The first Sunday School in Lake City began as a Presbyterian school. However, Minutes of the Sension of July 16, 1876, record a supension of the Sunday School because "of the Methodists and others objecting, it is deemed best to let it remains so until Received Durley arrives to take deemed best to let it remains so until Received Durley arrives to take union Sunday School started, as there is a record for a Christmas celebration given by the union Sunday School started, as there is a record for a Christmas celebration Sunday School challence, Christmas (18, 1876, in the Presbyterian Charch. The Silver World respected that the program included Christmas cards, sols, reclatabous and other aumoeneurs, all by the

Similar Christmas Eve celebrations of the Sunday School children became annual affairs. The December 24, 1879 observance was listed as the principal attraction for the young people. The Silicer World reported on December 27, that the church was filled to overflowing. Two evergreen trees, illuminated with wax candles decorated each side of the rostrum. A program of songs and recitations precoded the distribution of gifts. On this

The church purchased a new organ in 1882 and the old organ was austiended at a special meeting. Bidders paid fifty conts to get into the auction. The sheriff then locked the door until the organ was sold. John Mauer bid in the organ for 982. Following the auction, the church choir gave a concert. A colored quartette, miners from Rose's Cabin, a boarding bosse and stage couch stop on way to Ourray, appeared on the program. This was the first time colored singers were heard in Lake CRy. Their like was the first time colored singers were heard in Lake CRy. Their like wave a course of the hour worked relies more that the base somedle

Sunday School entertainments became a popular form of recreation or the children and even adults. The Silver World reported one such entertainment March 6, 1881, as having a capacity crowd, with the "auditors" standing in the aisle to hear a program of choir music, vocal numbers by the children, flute and organ duets, and recitations. The program was followed with an address by the pastor, Reverend John Deeble, Presbyterian Sunday School services continued with few interruptions until 1990.

The ladies of the church were active with socials, benefits, programs, and public entertainments. The proceeds from these daffirs were used to help defray church indebtedness, the pastor's salary, bell tower, organ, and so other church projects which needed financing. Representative of these socials were, oxyster suppers, a "Poverty-Party," "Jug-Breaking context." The financial report, as printed in the Loke Cole, October Darty. The financial report, as printed in the Loke Cole and the Cole of the State Cole, and the Cole of the Cole, Cole of the Cole

and occur yearny skindwise. The Boy's these social meetings continued. The Lake CBT Throughout the 1895's these social meetings continued. The Lake CBT Throughout announced on June 4, 1898, a Strawberray after Ge Cream Social which would be held in Christian Hill on Saturdey evening, June 11, as the annual entertainment of the Ladies Ald Society of the Presbyterian Cheurk. All were cordially invited. The paper urged attendance, as the Society is very needy. Charch socials, according to Mrs. Rajah Horton, in-cluded elaborate chain settlings for all, with versers from the Bilbe printed cluded elaborate chain settlings for all, with versers from the Bilbe printed the second of the second control of the Bilbe printed the second of the Bilbe printed the second of the Bilbe printed the Bilbe print

The growth of membership in the Lake City Presbyterian church was slow but steady. Attendance at services, however, was large Reverend George Darley; the first pastor, was the main attraction in the early years. "Darley," said the Silver World, "is a minister of the practical kind, who combines grace and faith with his work, building churches and preaching

George Darley was a most unusual man, but a somewhat unorthodox minister. On arrival in a community, he would ago to the salsons to find an audience. The games were stopped and the far tables became pulpits. The men in the salsons sang the old familiar with rich and other trained voices. With bowed heads they heard the prayers and often listened to the sermons with tears in their eyes.

Darley, though adamant in his fight against evil and sin, was kind and sympathetic toward the erring. This is reflected in the account of the death of Magg Hartman. Magg was one of the "girks" who lived and worked in 'Hells Acre,' the segregated vice area of Lake City. The facts surrounding her death are told in the biography of Mary Bassett Franklin.

A man named Crowley was side with presumonia in a cabin allow Sherman. The datester who went there an somewhose cattered him said that he must have a nune. There was none available at Said has been as the said that he must have a nune. There was none available at Said has a said that he must have a nune. There was none available at Said has a said that the said has a said that the said that the said has a said that the said that the said has a said that the sa

Mary Franklin had the girl brought to her house and cared for her until she was able to be taken to Lake City. A few days later the died

Magg Hartman was not a church member, nor were her Lake Cily friends familiar with the riside of a church. Nevertheless, Reverend Darley was asked to preach her funeral service. He consented and went to the house where the service was to be held. As the "girst" came in from the various dance halls, Darley shook hands with each and spoke a kind word. All fension was removed as he read the 8th chapter of the psopal exorrhing to 8t. John. Tears came to all eyes as he proceeded with the funeral sermon. After the services, Darley accompanied the group to the burial ground.

No class of men knew better how to treat a minister they liked in a royal manner, than the men who went into southwestern Colorado during the great San Juan "excitement" of 75, "76 and "77; nor could a more intelligent, plucky, warm-hearted set of men be found, men

Darley's chief object as pastor was to promote temperance in Lake Cin. He Murphy Movement, as the temperance movement was called, came the lake City by the Murphy Movement, as the temperance movement was called, came the lake City by the City of the III. I be undersigned, to he pledge my word and honor. God helping me, to abstain from all intoxicating liquor as a beverage, and 10th y all honorable means, encourage others to abstain. Signers of the pledge wore blue ribbons. Some of the saloon keepers boycotted merchants who wore this badge, because they felt the movement

Darley, however, was fourless, and promoted the temperance movement in the area. Many in the community were willing to 'wave off', as it was written and and ways in the community were willing to 'wave off', as it was written and the proper of the community of t

Darley gave his first lecture, December 18, 1877. The subject was, Come Take a Drink, "Posters using the title advertised the lecture. Some took the invitation literally and came to imbibe freely. They were disappointed but returned for more lectures and the church was packed every night. The Pastor's Register recorded, "Grand success! God is with us in the movement! Eighth-four signed the Pledge the first night." The lectures

Darley reported that at first the whiskey element laughed at the idea of a temperance movement. Within a week, however, they organized to combat Darley and temperance. Some christian men were fearful that violence might result if Darley continued his forecast sermons. They attempted to slow his pace, but he became they continued the forecast as we are the worse of the continued the control of the most of the weak. He worse he gets,

The temperance movement gained impetus when, on New Year's Day, 1878, Mrs. George Darley arranged for a dance and organized the ladies of the church to hold Open House from 9 A.M. to 10 P.M. for men who were away from home. Long tables were set up in the hall, food in

Pledge was placed on a table near the door and by evening forty-five had signed it. It is significant that only two drunks were found on the streets of

a... The Referent Chair at Loyal and ISSA Its objective were similar to those of the Murph Morement. This requiration were repossible for those of the Murph Morement. This requiration was repossible for bringing nationally known temperance speakers to Lake City. The first spourced feature of this type was given by Frank Alumbungh, a popular temperance lecturer from Ottumva, Iowa. He spoke before a large crowd and skyt more persons signed the Policy. Lectures of this nature continued and skyt more persons signed the Policy. Lectures of this nature continued Dodd Tan University of the Later speakers was Reverend Dodd Tan University of the Later speakers was Reverend Dodd Tan University of the Later speakers was Reverend Dodd Tan University of the Later Speakers was Reverend Dodd Tan University of the Later Speaker Speakers was Reverend Dodd Tan University of the Later Speakers was

During the entire early period, the Presbyterian Church of Lake City functioned as a religious and moral center for the entire community. In addition to its own denominational services, the facilities of the church were made available for the use of other denominations, public entertainments

The Episcopalians were the next to establish a church in Lake City.
The following announcement appeared in the December 9, 1876 issue of

We the undersigned do, by authority of the Rt. Rev. Bishop Spaulding of Colorado, request all interested in the establishment of an Episcopalian Church in Lake City to meet on Monday evening, December 11, at 7 P.M. at Draper and Kay's office.

C. B. Hickman E. T. Hotchkiss

Plans were laid at this meeting to organize a church, and to build a rectory and church edifice. Money from friends in New York and churches in the East already had been promised. The following week the newly organized Episcopal Church Society arranged for lay readings to begin the last Sunday in December in Kostick's Hall A choir was organized and a normal negation.

by January, 1877, the Episcopalians established a Sunday School and regular services were scheduled. A church library was started with books donated by friends and churches in St. Louis, Chicago, and New York, as well as by Bisbop Spaulding and Reverend Mr. Finch of Deriver. In March, the Society purchased two lots at Fifth Street and Gunnison Avenue and prepared a temporary chance.

The Rocky Mountain News, August 9, reported:

The Episcopal Society of Lake City worships in a little church just opposite the Preshyterian Church. The church, barring its high-backed pews, is finished off in the neatest and most fastidious taste. There is no regular pastor yet; bul Bishop Spauling, in his recent visit, promised one should be forthcoming shortly, and so they feel City wickcheme pray and sing in the multist of all this Lake City wickcheme.

Regular services continued without a pastor until May, 1880, when the Lake City Mining Register reported the appointment of Reverend A. D. Drummond, as the first Episcopal Rector to be called to the Church (St.



EPISCOPAL CHURCH, Fifth Street and Cunnison Avenue. This congregation was the second one to form a society in Lake City from which was organized the St. James the Less Parish. The church and church office veere built in 1877. It still stands, an edifice of "the neatest and wave basilibuse tests".

James the Less Parish), in Lake City. The paper added that, the parish was built and organized by lay readings conducted by J. H. Simmons, a local resident. It had remained without a rector for more than four years, was free from debt, and owned seven good lots and a chapel.

Reverend Drummond began regular services and added a 3 P.M. Sounday Bible class for adults, taught by Dr. L. Lewis, Principal of the Publis Selved of Lake City.

ay bible class for adults, taught by Dr. L. Lewis, Principal of the Pubhool of Lake City. The Easter Sunday service in 1881 was described in the Silver World:

The chancel was beautifully decorated with native and conservatory flowers from Mr. Pease's hot-house. The chancel rail was decorated with potted geraniums, evergreens, and silver and cut glass vases filled with flowers. The pastor preached a scholarly sermon and said he hoped for a large, constant attendance.

Reverend Drummond's wish apparently was not granted, for shortly he was transferred to the Gunnison church and there followed a break in the continuity of the Lake City services, though the Sunday School continued. The Silver World, July 22, 1882, asked this pertinent question:

Why does not some enterprising minster come to Lake City? The Presbyterian and Episcopalian pulpits are vacant. Lake City will give hearty welcome to a minister who has plenty of brains and sand to back him up.

C. Y. Grimes, a student pastor, came in June, 1891, to fill the St. James pulpit for the summer season. The new resident pastor, a student at Western Theological College. Chicago, was welcomed at a recention given by the ladies of the church at the Occidental Hotel. Visiting pastors and occasionally Bishop Spaulding filled the pulpit until the following June. when Grimes returned for the second summer.

The St. James Mission parish church was incorporated in Lake City, August 5, 1893. Services continued at irregular intervals with only occa-

As with other churches, the ladies of St. James contributed to the raising projects, though they sponsored their share of them. Unlike some of the other demoninations, the Episcopalians sponsored dances which provided an interesting and popular diversion for all. The best available music was provided and special entertainments were added. Franklin Hall was the scene of these regular Friday evening socials and dances.

The Episcopalian congregation, though small, included a number of the social leaders of the town. Their church edifice was not imposing in size, but it had a dignity and simplicity which was reflected in the reverence of its services. The contribution of this denomination to the social and

cultural life of the town was immeasurable

While the Presbyterians had the distinction of building the first Protestant church in Lake City, Reverend I, Moffatt, conducted the first Methodist divine services. "The service was held on Sunday evening, May 7, 1876. The Silver World editor found "the attendance large and the

audience attentive." The first Methodist Church services were conducted in the Presbyterian Church. Alternate Sundays were used by the two congregations, with Reverend Moffatt preaching for the Methodists. In August, 1877, the ing Reverend B. B. Dundas to this church. Lots on Second Street and Gunnison Avenue were purchased in September, 1877, and a parsonage

By the fall of 1877, the Presbyterian congregation had progressed to were transferred to the school house. Reverend Dundas had been induced to take the pastorate at Lake City through the promise that a flourishing church could be built, and that his support would be provided by the church and the mission fund. With the approach of winter, this promise had not augment the meager treasury, the ladies of the church gave a successful sored by the Methodist ladies that same year, when a large Christmas tree committee was on duty from 9 A.M. until noon to receive family gifts for

Beginning February, 1878, services for this congregation were held Church appeared in the Silver World, November 2, 1878. It announced that the Methodist parsonage was vacant and available for rent. Services continued, however, with visiting ministers and lav leaders officiating. In 1880, at the Methodist Conference meeting in Georgetown, Colorado, Elder John H. Merritt, Director of the Southern Division of Colorado Methodist Churches and Missionaries, reported, "Animas City, Silverton,

Street and Gunnison Avenue, were sold by the sheriff for \$300, under a

Reverend Father Haves, parish priest of Del Norte came to Lake City Church, Subscriptions totaling \$800 were raised. While in Lake City

Although the Catholic Church was not completed as scheduled.

From twenty-two by fifty-five feet. The plans were drawn by George Boggs, who did most of the construction work. The ceiling is arched, providing fine acoustics. Wainscoting three and one-half feet high of grained oak with walnut trim runs around the sanctuary

ing. It will be partitioned into two rooms and used by the priest. By March, 1878, the church was completed. It bore the name. vices through February, 1882, Father Quinn, of the Gunnison Catholic time. By the spring of 1883, the members had provided new pews and

The ladies of the Catholic Church provided socials, benefits, and was a fair and ball. September 27 and 28, 1877. A support dance at the Armory, sponsored by the Catholic ladies, became a regular monthly event.

In addition to the regularly sponsored dances, the Catholic ladies Garden on Henson Creek. A platform thirty by sixty feet was constructed

throughout the period, but a visiting priest made frequent trips to the town to conduct mass, and to administer to those of the Catholic faith. The attractive church still stands on a vantage point overlooking the business

The early history of the Christian Church in Lake City shows its

In addition to the Sunday School, a Young People's Christian Association

We have three neatly finished attractive churches and 2000 intelligent inhabitants here; yet, no resident clergyman. We do have the Y.P.C.A. though, and every Sunday interesting, instructive, and very entertaining exercises are conducted at the little church (Presbyterian). Last Sunday the theme was, "Moses, his birth, life, death and

The meetings of the Y.P.C.A. were regular, and in lieu of a pastor, one of members. The Christian Church group was given a costly organ in Aprill 1882. That same year, Sunday School was transferred from the Episcopa

Reverend J. J. Sharrard, state evangelist of Christian Churches arrived in Lake City July 21, 1883, to hold a series of night meetings. The bers. By the time Reverend Sharrard closed his meetings, thirtytwo members had been added, twenty by baptism and twelve by letter. The baptismal service was conducted in the overflow waters of Ocean

Wave Falls, just below town.

The newly organized congregation rented an old Gunnison Avenue dining hall and converted it to a permanent meeting place. The location services on alternate weeks. Special lectures and programs were given, in addition to regular church services. Among the attractions was the steroptican exhibition, August 22, 1884. It provided a tour through England, France, Italy and views of a storm at sea. The scenes were life-size, Admission charge was 25 cents for adults and 10 cents for children. It proved a rewarding event for the mountain community.

As a further consideration for the young people, the members of the Christian Church organized a Bible Reading Society, March 15, 1885. Its purpose was stated as being "to make mutual improvement in the knowl-

As Usual, the ladies of the Christian Church were the fund-raising ing hall. The floor and benches were painted, curtains of lace for the windows were made, seats were upholstered and new chandeliers were

Congregation meetings were held in the Hall until late in 1891. when alternate Sunday services were conducted at the American House programs, benefits, and social affairs through 1898. Though no church building was constructed in Lake City, this group of dedicated citizens sponsored a religious program which had a definite and lasting effect on

11 A.M. Sunday School would be held at 3 P.M. No further record is

Of those who attended the organization meeting September 9, sixteen

became charter members of the church. From the organization in September, 1883, to October, 1884, meetat the Presbyterian Church in the morning of October 5, 1884, and at the Christian Hall in the afternoon. Members decided to begin regular covenant meetings on the first Monday in each month, with Bible study to be

An outgrowth of the covenant meetings was the promotion of the first to thirty-two, three having moved away. The baptismal service for those converted during the revival meeting was conducted in a large tank which hymns. A second result of this first revival was the organization of a Sabbath

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH ON Bluff Street, overlooking the town. It is situated at the base of Crustal Peak. The first service was held in this church September 20, 1891. The church was dedicated in January, 1892.



School. Members met March 8, 1885, in Mendenhall's home and elected officers for the school.

In December, 1885, the members moved the meetings from the bomes to a rented hall in Houghland Block, and subsequently, to the Episcopal Church, where covenant meetings continued with fair regularity, the property of the property of the property of the property of the strength of the property of the property of the property of the Reynolds was accepted as a member and became the church pastor as well. He was ordanied by the Reverend Cameron of Denver, December 6,

The purchase of a church building site was the next important step taken by the congregation. Lots 13, 14, and 17 on Bliff Street were acquired January 23, 1869. The members passed a resolution, July 20, 1890, Kennedy and Mrs. Mary Tailaferro were appointed as a committee to solicit funds. All church activities were suspended until the new building was ready for occupancy. The Loke Clin Times. April 30, 1891, reported

The first service in the completed church was held September 20, 1891, at 2:30 P.M., with Reverend C. A. Parker, pastor, in charge. The congregation was very proud of the new building. L. R. Smoot said, "The churches in Lake City were all well built and a credit to any little city: the

Baptist Church even had stained glass windows."

The progress of the church is reflected in the annual letter of 1892 to the Baptist Association. A summary of the year included: (1) a new building and regular Sunday services since its completion (2) a good congregation (3) success in the support of a full-time pastor for a year (4) a revival meeting in cooperation with the Presbyterian Church, and (5) a Young People's Society of Christian Endeavor organized and meeting weekly to

The Baptist Church was dedicated January 17, 1892, with Reverend Alex Turbull, Jated Missioany, proaching in the morning, and Dr. H. C. Woods, of Lincoln, Nebraska, visiting Superintendent of Home Missions, presenting the decicatory sermon in the evening. The cost of the church was \$2,500, including \$2,232 for materials and labor, with the difference domated through work or material, 4,850 dole transined after all pledges

The customary church difficulties arose but were resolved with satisfaction, as recorded in the 1893 annual letter to the association:

The Church has been open every Sunday, We have had a struggle for life at times, during the past few months; yet we still have clung to church and pastor. Our Sabbath School has been a marked success.

Reverend D. E. McGlashan was nastor from March. 1894. through

April. 1897. According to Ralph Horton, Reverend McGlashan was trained in the ministry, but gave it up for ranching in the Gunnison valley. After making a great deal of money, he again took up preaching. He was well liked and always ready to help anyone in need. If money was short at the church, he would contribute heartily. Mrs. McGlashan was an accomplished musician and helped with the musical portions of the services.

A chief concern of the Baptist congregation in the early days was the conduct of its members. For example, a special meeting was called by the Trustees on December 25. 1894. to examine church members "taking nart

in worldly amusements." Reverend McGlashan offered this resolution:

The church is opposed to any member taking part in worldly amusements, especially dancing, card playing, Sabbath desecration, and of the use of intoxicating liquors as a beverage, and all other forms of

The 1896 annual letter to the association made note of the progress in this respect, by affirming, "The church has done much to elevate the moral standards of Lake City. Our growth has not been in numbers, but in existin

The subsequent notations in the Church Record show admissions of guilt by members, promises to reform, and withdrawals from membership, by request, for those who failed to abide by the Church Resolution, were

y request, for those who failed to abide by the Church Resolutionanimously adopted at the December 25, 1894 meeting.

Controlly, triet adherence to the tenety of the Barylist f

committee and the second contract of the Baptit failh was followed. As might be expected in a fundare community, devance did mode and the second contract of the

May 20, 1900—The Trustees officially closed the doors of the church against Reverend M. B. Milne from preaching the funeral sermon of Jesse Landers. But, the church repudiates the action of the Trustee. It is moved and passed that hereafter the church be open to all caste and color for funeral purposes.

It was reported that a few days after the funeral, the trustee responsible for refusing the use of the church was encountered by some of the deceased's friends in Crookeville, where he was riding in his buggy. He was removed from the vehicle and soundly buggy-whipped. Few extended

him great sympathy.

The ladies the Baptist Church, like those of other denominations, were active in fund raising projects for church expenses, and in socials for the entertainment of the community. The professional programs approximed by these ladies included, M. R. Woods of Otturea, Kansas, who gave his pladies fingers approared on May 16, 1892, and Major J. M. Exingino lectured on "The Benefits of the Keeley Cure to the Cause of Temperance" in May, 1893.

Unusual home talent socials included such diversities, as a contest to see who could earl a suspended doughunt fastest with his hands tied behind his back, as been and pilo secondary social could be a support of the property of the such as the su

to provide acceptable entertainment for their members and the towns-

The early history of the Baptist Church, and its influence is reflected in the tribute paid to the minister who conducted the first revival held by the church. L. R. Smoot said:

I must pay tribute to perhaps the finest minister of the Gospel who ever went about the West, Reverend M. A. Clark. 'Father Clark,' he was called, and known and loved by everyone, no matter what denomination. He was truly a pioneer minister. He came from a position in an Eastern college, and from 1872 to 1886 preached over the hills. wild and rough country, walking thousands of miles over the hills.

The white church with the stained glass windows still stands on Bluff Street. Its bell rings at intervals, when a visiting minister or missionary comes through the little city and stops to conduct a service for those of the Baptist faith and any others who wish to worship with them.

The religious influence in Lake City from the beginning of its history merits recognition. The churches and religious organizations waged a successful campaign against the destructive, immoral forces which are nursely discovery of rich gold and silver foless. The early establishment of discovery of rich gold and silver foless. The early establishment of contents, plus the persistent program of activity sponsored by the churches, combined to produce an indeblie moral influence in the entire Lake

Chapter V

The Three R's and More

EABLY, SETTLERS were not interested in creating new Unpsia, or in racialed changing imaliar cultural patterns they had lower in the East. As families arrived in Lake City, town leaders agreed with the statement, which appared in an 1875 issue of the Sirlee World Had. "A school is the greatest necessity here at present." Many residents were, themselves, echazied and believed that a free public school system was central to the third school interest also appeared weekly, "Some movement should be inaugurated to cred a commodious schoolbouse and procure a teacher. Nothing speaks more loudly for the enterprise and permanency of a new town than a well regulated public school," was the theme of one editorial worn than a well regulated public school, "was the theme of one editorial

A few weeks later, T. H. Cannon announced the opening of a private school in Sparlings Hall on December 6. "All English branches will be taught," he said, "as well as bookkeeping and commercial mining, law for those who desire to pursue extra branches." Tuition was three dollars a nearly wavely in goldwer for the results cause five dellars, would

the extra course. The school was to be nonsectarian.

Not all the people in the area were financially able to patronize a private school. Since there was an unappropriated school fund in the county amounting to fifty dollars, the Silver World suggested that a petition be presented to the County Superintendent of Schools, asking for the them to supplementally with the superintendent of the school free to all might

Following this suggestion, Lake City residents met January 3, 1876, to organize a school district. Since adequate funds were not immediately available, the new board resolved to raise enough money by subscription for a three months term. A store building for school now was secured, noney the first free public school opened in Lake City. Expenses for the proposed term were pledeged by subscription. The subsequent terms were to be

supported by a tax of five mills, levied on all taxable property in the district. Twenty-eight students enrolled in this first school. The students' interest was keen and response to instruction rewarding. Of the twenty-eight, ten were listed as perfect in attendance during the first eight weeks period. The subjects taught included spelling, reading, bookkeeping, geography, primary geography, and mental arithmetic. The citizens who attended the school meeting the following Seques bewere unanimous in deciding on a six months term to begin Newember!. This was a determined step, particularly in view of the School District Report made by Secretary A. R. Thomon to the Courn's Seprentined step Report made by Secretary A. R. Thomon to the Courn's Seprentined of Schools. The school census showed 100 persons between six and twenty of the school of the school census showed 100 persons between six and twenty confidence of the school of

The opening date was postponed when it was learned only \$700 had been collected by the school tax. This was insufficient for current needs. A special meeting was called, to consider ways and means to cope with this emergency. This significant note was added to the announcement. The expectable designed that the label as the school of the

Apparently the presence of the ladies gave support to the strugging efforts, for the citizens word to lease the Finley Building, and plans moved forward to open school as soon as possible. The ladies agreed to sponsor a benefit supper and ball, November 10, in Kostick and Kohler's Hall, to raise funds necessary to equip and repair the Finley Building. All ladies in the community were invited to participate in this project. The response

Meanwhile, the school board, confident that the ladies would be successful in raising necessary funds, scheduled a teachers' examination for Wednesday, November 1. Five applicants were examined. Colone C. W. Adams and Mrs. Eugenia W. Olney received the highest grades, and were elected to teach for the ensuing term. Thus, the free public

The following year similar financial and housing problems arose. Tax collections were slow, and by January, 1877, there was no money in the treasury with which to pay teachers s'alaries. Also, the temporary and inadequate housing in business buildings was not satisfactory. Poor heating and ventilation, puly leaking roofs were not conducte to good elastroom.

The need for levying a special school tax was stearly seen in the edureport issued on February 1. 1876. These was a school debt of 31,35 for teachers' salaries and 81,200 for lumber, supplies to six and twentysers, and 178 under six years in the district. The Silver World amounce years, and 178 under six years in the district. The Silver World amounce on March 2, a two-week vacation for the schools. The second term wool resume March 11. There was no money in the school treasury, but arrang ments had been made to advance money for teachers' salaries. Hard time ments had been made to advance money for teachers' salaries. Hard time

Clearly, the present plan of public instruction was not reaching the objective set by those who urged the establishment of a public school system. People with families were beginning to leave Lake City. Town leaders were aware of the situation and sought a solution. The Rocky leaders were aware of the situation and sought a solution. The Rocky the stating. The question of building a schoolbouse has been troubling the people of Lake City considerably, to the conclusion that bonds is the only

The school building idea had been given some momentum the previous pear, who Samuel Wade had domated seventy-free lots to the school district for a building fund. The Lake City Town Company had increased the number by an additional gif of lots, By the spring of 1850 high over the proposed 1816,300 bond issue to build and cupin a school bailding. It was of particular interest to the ladies, for a new school law permitted them to vote in a school election. The proposed bond issue carried, skety to fifteen, June 15, in a public meeting, the following resolution

Resolved by the voters of this school meeting, held June 15, 1880, in District 1, Himsdale County, that the Board of Directors threated is hereby directed to purchase the site selected by us this night, and the magnitude of the properties of the selection of the selection of the selection of the shool bonus on such alars and terms as may be thought best for the

thool house on such plans and terms

The Board of Trustees put Major Brockett in charge of the school funds. He was bronded at \$57,000. R. S. Boochshahn, Denver school architect, was employed to draw plans for the building. The accepted plans called for a two-story structure of stone, with a full bacement. Two large rooms on the main floor were planned to accommodate fifty-six decks each. The second floor was to have there room, one accommodating 10 cdxs., and unfinished. The estimated cost of the building was \$12,000. Lot on Sixth Street were purchased, and by September, 1580, bolds were opened and

The ceremony for the laying of the cornerstone was under the

auspices of the Masonic Lodge. A large audience attended the very impressive service on Saturday afternoon, October 16, 1880. The Lodge members and the school children formed a procession and marched from the Lodge Hall to the school. The program included vocal music by the children and a Lodge quartet, an address by Professor W. G. B. Lewis, the school Principal, and the Masonic Service for laying a cornerstone.

An interesting sidelight on the construction of the building appeared in the Silver World:

The attention of the School Board is called to the lack of terminal facilities in connection with the new school house. They should have a privy council and take measures for the erection of necessary structural adjuncts continuous to the temple of learning on Gunnison

In October, 1881, the lower story of the new building was completed and occupied. A. E. Joab, of Colorado Springs, was Principal, and the teachers were Mrs. A. R. Wright and Miss Vashti Liggett. One hundred and seven students were enrolled. Teachers and students were very proud of the new building. The former were very strict with students who

An unfortunate incident occurred soon after the building was occupied when a support gave way under the floor of the primary room. This resulted in the rumor that the building had been poorly constructed. Parents became alarmed for the safety of their children and kept them home. Attendors in growner school desired from [60, 14] bitter than public meeting was held in the Court House, and demands were made that classes be removed from the building until its true condition could be determined. The school board was unwilling to disrupt school and refused to comply with the demand. An inspection was made, and the one weak support was discovered and replaced. Fears were thereby allayed and

school continued. The new school bulker was the fall term of 1882 combined to make. The new school bulker World classed that Lake Gip had one of the best disciplined and most interesting school bulker. World classed the best disciplined and most interesting school was were well disciplined, even after only two weeks of school. Credit was given to Professor A. E. Josh, described as "a thorough school" who posseed "know-feege of human nature and the ability to successfully govern, direct, and control with firms instruction. How see sewerth in fee destrutions. The has professor control instructions and one sewerth in feed seatment. The has a perfect control instruction.

pupus, teachers and parents.

Attendance maintained an average of over one hundred pupils for the next few years. The number increased to 166 in 1897 and to 180 in 1898. The grade level was gradually raised to include some high school courses. In 1885, for example, physics, bistory, rhetoric, algebra and

courses. In 1885, for example, physic geology were added to the curriculum.

In the spring of 1893, more space was needed for the upper grades. Previously, they had been divided, one group studying at home while the other recited at school, and vice versa. So, the upper floor of the building

The first annual commencement of Lake City's upper school was held in the Armory, Friday, May 6, 1898, at 8 P.M. A fifteen cent admission charge was made to defray expenses. Many townspeople came to hear a program of violin and vocal solos, recitations, class prophesy, and addresses

program of violin and voc by school officials.

The Lake City public school system was fortunate in the teachers that served throughout the early years. They were well-qualified and devoted to their profession. It is not possible to mention all. However, A. E. Joah, who was principal in 1881 and was associated, therefore, with first classes in the new building, seems to have made an indelible

While we were drifting along at the end of one school year, it was amounced that we would have a now teacher in the fall, a young Yale graduate. I shall never forget his first session. We were called to order by the ringing of a medium sized hand bell. Our former teachers did this in a slow, weary way; but this morning was different. We looked up from our play in amazement at a fall, red-headed young man, walking briskly up and down, vigorously ringing that bell; we had never dreamed there was so much "ring" in it.

Our school lite changed from then on.

Mr. Joab was a wonderful educator, but a wild disciplinarian; yet,
we received an educational foundation from him that was priceless.
He was very thorough and intense in his desire for us to excel. Some
hated him; I did not, but I was afraid of him. I had to study "or else."
True, be had several emcounters with bis brothers: but, outside of

Through the energetic influence of Professor Joab a new brick

school house was built. It was a gala day when the cornerstone was

Mrs. Mort also recalls that Professor Joab thought the members of her class mature enough to attend some of the sessions of the famous Packer Trial in District Court. In that way they would learn what a trial by the properties of the properties o

Professor Joab was made Superintendent of Public Schools at Colorado Springs in July, 1883, and he became Chairman of the Mathematics Department at Chicago University a year later. Mrs. Mott further

Forty years after I had gone to school to him, I read in a San Francisco paper of one Colonel A. E. Joab, who had a man arrested for defaming the character of George Washington. This sounded so like our Professor Joab that I wrote and asked if he were the teacher I had once known in Lake City. He immediately replied, "I am he, pray who

Lake City residents read other interesting incidents associated with any sheal life Kirk. I.G. Heath remombered the Armitage bow who rode to town in his sleigh drawn by a shedland pony from his home at Crooke's mill. He parked his sleigh and proy at the livery stable and went at to school. Mr. Emma Liska resulted that children often rice shared to school upper end of Lake (10; would skate down the frome creek to within two locks of school, where they would remove their skates and walk the remainder of the way. H. G. Heath reported that the school wett through the Tenth grade only, until 1900. He was engaged at this time to enlarge if to richade the Tewlift grade. Heath served as Superintended of Schools

one old couple, former slaves, who lived near the school. Children loved to go to their house at noon for a drink of water. The old man worked at a dairy. He had a humped back and walked bent forward: but, he invariably sang as he went to and from work. Another Negro, Jimmy Price attended the Lake City school in the 1890's and graduated.

From 1875 to 1894, private schools of various types operated in Lake City, Professor J. Merrifield opened a school of Penmanship on November 7, 1875, Mrs. Retta E. Gage started a subscription school June 10, 1876.

g January 22, 1876, Silver World reported:

The Orthographomania, a mild type of malevolent disease, has broken out here lately. The complaint quite generally affect our citizens, we should judge from the number who assembled at the school house fluxiday evening to participate in an ind-flashioned spelling school. The exercises were varied with declamations, recitations, and singing. The next meeting will be one week from this Saturday. A

Two more private schools were started in 1877, the Misses Winn's "Select School" and a successful night school directed by Colonel C. W. Adams. Dancing schools were popular from 1878 through 1894. In 1882, Wis Kate Earhart, at the solicitation of many parents, consented to give a series of kindergarten lessons at the H. J. Mayer home. In 1883, a singing school was sponsored by the Presbyterian Church, and Joseph Rawlings conducted a class in vocal music. That same year Madame M. L. Deacon opened a French school, with Jarge classes enrolled from the start.

Since many of the mines were closed during the severe winter weather, the mine workers had leisure time. While many sought work in lower elevations, most remained in Lake City until spring, chopping wood or doing odd josts for a living. The Reverend Alex Darley and others felt that a public library and reading room should be made available by the community. Consequently, this notice appeared in the Sileer World.

NOTICE TO MINERS.

I'm making efforts in the East to secure books, papers and magazines for the miners on and over the range. I am in receipt of some and am expecting more. I desire to get them to Lake City and Silverton. I shall be glad to hear from those who can get them taken in.

My aim is to secure secular reading, but so far my receipts have been chiefly of a religious cast; yet, they contain much of general interest, Address me at Del Norte.

Alex M Darley

Others soon became interested in the proposed library and reading room. The Town Board of Trustees at the December, 1875, meeting appointed a committee to select lots suitable for town purposes and included in the list a lof for a public library. J. Rice, of Pueblo, Colorado, who had established a branch news depot in that city, sent his extensive circulating library to Lake City, Resonable terms for its use were worked circulating library to Lake City, Resonable terms for its use were worked

In March, 1877, the Free Library Association was organized. This name adopted was Winters Library of Lake City. *Mr. Heury Finley immediately denated a lot to the Association, and plans were made to make the property of the property of the Association and plans were made to the Association operated to the Association operated to the Miners Library Association operated its free library and reading room Miners Library Association operated its free library and reading room (Comition Assemble, 1916). Its Simmon denated 200 books and A. M. Datley added skyty more. All leading state papers and many eastern papers were and strangers in the city who had no facilities for this purpose of miners and strangers in the city who had no facilities for this purpose.

The success of the venture is recorded in the Silver World, May 26,

The Miners Library is now about a month old. It is a great moral and intellectual aid to this area. Current literature is most popular. Some of the best daily and weekly journals from all over the United States are available. The present book collection is light literature; but, by fine American and European authors.

The moral influence is already being felt. Many spend time there who formerly went elsewhere.

The Rocky Mountain News commented: "The Miners free reading room and library at Lake City is a great success."
The Miners Library Association exected its own building on the could side of Fourth Street, just below Gunnison Avenue, in August 1577. The work was completed in three days by voluntary labor and contributions. Much credit is given to the efforts of George M. Darley and Theodore Idle, Jr. A record is available of the continuous operation of the library until October, 1879, when this notice appeared in the Silver World. "Sheffil Cambell secured the building of the Miners Library on Fourth

The general decrease of mining operations in the area was credited with the decline in the need for a library. The public school, through dotations and benefit programs, had been adding to its library, and facilities in private homes were generally available. The record of the Miners Library project in a mining community is unique, and speaks well for the concern shown by citizens for those who were more or less transient.

may not be unlike that of many new communities. There is this one observation which may be made, however. The people who were responsible for the stable life of this mining toon were admant in their desire to a restabilith a cultural and intellectual atmosphere for the probability of the stable of the stabl

Today, descendants from those pioneers, and some who have known no other home, engage in the same cultural pastimes of reading, studying.

.

Chapter VI Public Pleasures

RECREATION AND entertainment in Lake City during the early years combined a mixture of general activities in which the entire community participated. These included holday celebrations, sports events, theatireal presentations, lectures, concerts, elaborate parties and balls, gambling, and saloon amusements. Club fairs were usually limited to members

According to Mrs. J. L. Harlan there was always a conflict between the cultured and "rough" clements. The cultured faction usually won. There was even a distinction made in burial grounds. Lake City provided two cemeteries, the C. A. R. Cemetery and the burial ground behind "Hells Acre" for the lawless element.

Many cultured people came to Lake City during the early mining truth days and remained to make permanent homes. Among these are Judge J. C. Bell; J. W. Mills, attorney, who later authored Mills Statister also bitachies and its brothers, Sam and Wade, and C. P. Foeter, John 1877. He built the Crooke smelter at the falls on the south edge of town and this section became known as Crookeville. Crooke later invented tin foil and made a sizuable fortune from it. Another who came in the read days and resmained to being develop the town was William M. Simmons. In the state of the sizuable fortune from it. Another who came in the read was a decreasined to being develop the town was William M. Simmons. In the sizuable fortune from it. Another who came in the read of the family and also, was file first girl to be haptized in the town of Lake of the family and also, was file first girl to be haptized in the town of Lake the contract of the family and also, was file first girl to be haptized in the town of Lake

Cuty mong early day settlers, who have present family ties in Lake City were Mr. and Mrs. Herman Mayer, originally from Bavaria, where they owned an ancestral estate. Their daughters, Mrs. H. C. Heath and Mrs. Bram Liska reside in Lake City. Mr and Mrs. Heath were married in the Emma Liska reside in Lake City. Mrs. and Mrs. Heath were married in Ire family were also among the early settlers. He and his brother Jesse located the Golden Wender mine which they sold for \$400,000. His daughter. Edina, married H. T. Hoffman, son of an early Lake City deter. D. S. Lee the City of th

ONE OF THE EARLY DAY MANSIONS on Gunnison Avenue. This the scene of many fashionable social events. The home is still occupied



It was here (L.C.) I first met Tim Clawson, "Cap" Henson, Des Mullen, Pilke Snowden, Leon Eggers, Charley McConkey and Frank Koisley, all of whom later became my friends. They were real men of sterling quality, belonging to that class which future generations will delight to honor as pathfinders, trailblazers, and empire builders. Off indeed of 1 feel grateful that it was my good fortune to associate with such

By contrast, there was a constant influx of those who followed each publicized mining rush: the worker, the drifter, and the professional adventurer. Many brought their families, which created an educational and character-forming problem, while more were single and free.

The Rocky Mountain News declared:

Here one; is brought face to face with the corpuraters of the Adamse and the Flitts, the ranged and besended miner of Utah and Nesada, the almond-eyed Celestial and the squarty Finto, the irrepressible, to the considerable of the Adamse and the land, warrily habitat who contelled for his right; south of the Mason and Drosn line, white male drivers, land the Adamse and Drosn line, white male drivers, land the properties of the properties of

With this combination, recreation in Lake City was, rightly so, a mixture and a challenge to both groups. From reliable sources it is evident there was no dearth of facilities for filling leisure time. Since the desire for social activity on a large scale prompted the construction of several large entertainment halls, perhaps it is well first to consider some of them.

it was onnewhat magnificent for a frontier mining town. The mouldings and ornamental framework of the mirrors and the turned work about the bar were generally specimens of fine workmanship and reflected credit to the manufacturers, Echlin and Boutt. Both the main hall and shooting gallery were fifty best in length, while the front hall was seventy-five feet long. Facilities for drinking, drazing, and target shooting were

The popular Brockett's Hall was dedicated on April 19, 1877. Promisent citizens of take City joined to give a promeagande concert and dance as an opening affair. The proceeds from this party were used to purchase instruments for the newly organized town band. In June of that same year, Frank Eissensperber opened a new billiard hall, salson and chbroom. If dumb waiter which was installed to serve the unstair stooms from the bar.

The following year, June 15, 1878; the Lake City Beer Garden was opened about one-half mile up Henson Creek. Cy Bierderman and Fred Hilgenhaus were the proprietors. This pleasure spot was very popular because it was well run and attracted a high-class clientele. Tables, benches, arbors, rustic walks, and swings were feature attractions. A primitive

bridge afforded passage to an island at the rear of the garden. With the natural senic beauty of the area, the Beer Carden proved to be a show-place, as well as a popular recreation center. Beer was served, a platform was constructed for dancing, and music was furnished. The Carden was of more than temporary use, for tax records show payment of assessments

Fred Hilgenhaus, one of the operators of the Beer Garden, was a popular resident of Lake City. When he returned on 101/5, 1882, with his

, gave a concert for him. Classical music was played, and clueers were given for the bride and groon as they appeared on the porch of their home. Fred made a little speech, then the musicians marched up town and moistened their whistles, reeds, etc. . It was determined to give a genuine musical concert and several of the best instrumentalists intown repairs to Highenbusts home and performed highly artistic music. Wine and cake were served. The couple was then presented a beautiful service of silverware, a silver ice pitcher

Mrs. H. G. Heath recalled that the Beer Garden was respectable and a pleasant place for recreation. The two owners were in the process of

d washed away most of the area.

There were twenty-nine establishments where lispors were dispensed in lake City and Crockwelle by July. 1877. These places varied in size and quality. Some of the saloons were tastefully formidated, and offered and the saloons were tastefully formidated, and offered on the savely-loss of the savely of the saloon keepers were from good eastern familier. They had nice howes in Lake City and were among the highly respected citizens. The Carey Saloon was cited by halph Horton beautiful to the savely of the

The press was divided in its opinion of this phase of recreation.

While the Silver World described the fine furnishings and adequate facilities of the saloons and billiard halls, the Rocky Mountain News additionally extend.

The passion for play and gambling is almost universal and faro and roulette lables are crowded night after night with men of all conditions, who bet and lose their money with all the song food of the veteran habitues of the Cerman watering places. The various town and county officials are often in the habit of taking a hand in those games, and now and then a lawyer or a doctor of aly member of some church will step in just to make the game interesting. It is fat picking for the gamblers, but now and then they get caught up the

Later, the same newspaper released a second blast on the subject of

The saloons, although required to pay a license of \$500 a year each, are the most largely represented of any one brand of traffic, and if all the villatious whiskey and stale beer held in solution by these states are the salound to be a solution of the salound the salou

reservoir large enough to float the Great Eastern. And yet these establishments do a swimming trade, the receipts of many averaging \$100 and \$200 per day.

The Silver World viewed the saloons from a different perspective. On July 1, 1876, a new saloon on Silver Street was described as, "among the most metropolitan that we have in our city. The saloon is elegandy fitted and private rooms in the rear are neatly and costly furnished." This saloon was presided over by H. M. Crill who prohibited rude or boisterous

The Sin Juan Creacost described the amusements available every evening at the Centernial Saloon. Singing and character imperconation were included in the program, while black-face comedy was so popular's comparison that, with one local latent available, a mixtude composition of the control of the control

From its first days Lake City observed national and religious holdinys. Since these festivities were of mutual interest, all in the community and autorounding areas were invited to participate. For example, the first of the first Community Christmas Tree Celebration to be able, not ends in the Sam Juan Country, but on the Pacific slope of Colorado. The laties of the town determined to make this celebration menorable. The policited of the town determined to make this celebration menorable. The spoking every person in the area to attend the Christmas Eve party and dance every person in the area to attend the Christmas Eve party and dance person to the control of the control

according to the local invespaper.

Gifts for friends and family numbers were brought during the day
to Finley's Hall, where two longe Christinas trees had been placed to
Finley's Hall, where two longe Christinas trees had been placed to
see the gift were had been placed to the place of the place of the place of the gift when the place of the gift were available for all. One attendant reported that, 'Kris Kringle was
well assumed by Charley Helbrook, whose quaint withinstans as he
delivered the presents, kept the large audience in a continued state of
and served by the falles of the town. All guests were invited to partials,
"without money and without cost." Two long tables fairly groaned under
the weight of good things to eat, and of the 311 hunges you sho availed.

themselves of the generous hospitality, none went away unsatisfied.

After supper the hall was cleared for dancing. Thirty-Five ladies
and sixty men enjoyed this part of the celebration. Miss Lizzie Wade
provided organ music, and she was accompanied by a violinist and guitarist.
Christmas morning was ushered in by the report of firearms, shouts, and

other indications of merriment from a crowd of revelers. A quantity of fresh trout from the Sagauche was available for Christmas breakfast. It quickly disappeared from the market as soon as word spread through the

The annual observance of Christmas continued as a part of Lake City.

The annual observance of Christmas celebrations gradually disappeared, however, as the churches took over with suitable services and childrens programs. Those away from home at Christmas time continued to meiuded in the celebrations with provision made to add to their pleasure

Residents of Lake City observed other religious and national holidays with community celebrations. The first Leap Year, February 29, 1876, was marked with special consideration. The men were invited by the ladies to a ball in Finley's Hall on the evening of that day. According to the Silver

A noticeable feature of the evening was the "swapping" of husbands indulged in by the married Idalies, an arrangement probably agreeable to both parties. The number attending the party was so large that wallflowers were in abundance, though not through choice, but lack of duncing space. In due justice to the ladies, it must be said that this party was by far the most decorous and agreeable, as well as the most stytis, yet given in Lake City. It is only to be regretted that the 29th

The ladies of Lake City began the annual custom of bolding Open House in observance of New Year's Days, beginning January 1, 1879. They spent much time preparing for these affairs, arranging elaborate decoranious and collations. Their efforts were repaid by the great number of male callers. Ladies who held Open House issued informal invitations to guests was provided and dancing continued util in include. All, where music was provided and dancing continued util in include.

Yearly observance of Thankeyring was traditional from the first Thankeyring, November 20, 1876. Families had special dimores, borles and restaurants followed a traditional turkey and trimmings menu, churches held special services, and strangers in the city were wedomed into private homes. A masked Thankeyring hall, during this first Thankeyring, asson was given by the Good Templars in Kelly's Hall. An elaborate suggest prepared and served by the What Cheer Hestaurant included suggest prepared and served by the What Cheer Hestaurant included study of the complex of the control of the complex of the control of the study of the control of the control of the control of the control of the study of the control of the contr

The first formal observance of Memorial Day occurred May 20, 1885. The school children gathered flowers in the morning, and returned to school in the alternoon, where their teachers helped range the flowers in wantals and looquest. The units of the Memorial Day named assembled extended to the school of the s Judge G. W. Henry delivered an oration, and Reverend Charles Fuller pronounced the benediction. All soldiers' graves were decorated. The Memorial Day parade to the cemetery and the decoration of graves became an established custom in Lake City which continued for many

Washington's birtiday, February 22, 1884, was observed in a suitable mamer. Schools were closed and the children participated in a parade which lasted four hour. Thirteen game were fired from an old mortar in front of the Opera House. The Debate Club concluded the festivities with a public debate at the Courthouse. The United States team won the contest.

citizens for a private observance of Washington's birthday. Mayor J. C.
Bell, J. J. Abbott, Henry Kohler, Lt. Avery Biggers, John Maurer, and J. J.
Meyers were among those present. Dr. D. S. Hoffman read Washington's
Farewell Address with dignity and force, while others offered toasts and
speeches, and loined in patriotic songs. Mrs. Peck served a lunch to the

guests at the close of the celebration.

an unusual observance occurred on March 22, 1885, when the Germans in Lake City observed the S8th birthday of Emperor Wilsheim, All Lake City was awakened by salutes which were fired at dawn. The German residents and mine workers held a special meeting and program in Hirt's Hall in the afternoon. Song, revelry, and beer marked the event. The Germans may have been inspired to their national observance by the Irish. who had held a similar celebration five days earlier in bonor of St. Patrick. They entertained the residents of Lake City and surrounding com-

munity with a parade, and Irish singing and folk dancing in the Armory. Lake City residents as a whole joined in the annual Fourth of July

of the first such celebration, the Silver World declared:

Lake City's maiden effort in celebrating the Fourth will consist of "flutted" boddies in the morning, "ruffled "sings at mieday, straight whiskey "curves" in the afterneon and "ornamented" eyes at night, and owing to the fact that a copy of the Declaration of Independence can't be found in the Lake District, our friend Tom Cannon has promised to prepare a recapitulation of the Beecher-Tilton scandal promised to prepare a recapitulation of the Beccher-Tilton scandal

The report of the eelectration was more detailed. Predictions that many would eelectrate the day by getting drank were bonne out; but there were would evicebrate the day by getting drank were born out; but there were the state of the report of the report

The Silver World reported this first dance in a facetious manner.

The hall opened at eight. The grand saloon and supper rooms were
bellikately lighted with the large wife. The certain and the salour salou

bereby providing ample opportunity for privacy in stabiling influence of which perfect mechanical policy. The floor of the hall was in good condition for dancting, in spite of the discrepancy in the man and turns in it thus the Beccher-Tillon testing. The most was provided by a corp of volunteers, and if the fiddle had had a few more strings it would like obeen superh. All was equated, however, when the midnight feast was served. When G. W. Weiseman had appeared without the glittle or distrey and cut gliss, were marvels of tasty elegance. Two large pyramic calcies were the focal point, one bore the banner. The Land We Leve In: the other, Sidrew World."

Subsequent Fourth of July colorations carried out the more conveniend motils. In particular force from July with each succeeding one. By 1877, the lodges participated by sponsoring paralles, competitive games, and community priests. The 1877 coleration featured a concert content of the parallel priests of the 1877 coleration featured as concert used of inchependence by H. C. Olsey, and an address by Addision Danford, Golowed by botaing, singing, awinging, coupuat, and priest suppers at Lake San Cistobal. Many private citizens colebrated with intervolves the largest crowde, On this dute, too, the IO.O.F. sponsored a successful the largest crowde, On this dute, too, the IO.O.F. sponsored a successful content of the con

man it shorte's frain as a hierary benefit.

The following year the Fourth of July celebration included the favorite cancel.

The following year the Fourth of July celebration included the favorite cancel for the following the street of the World. Hoursalds and beer flowed freely, according to the Stieve World. Hoursalds and beer flowed freely according to the Stieve World. Hoursalds for the Mitch Introduced Judge B. G. Harwell, who read the Declaration of Bodgendones. The contact Q be defined from the American cagle to the brown in appropriate style, brief and to the point. The only departure from extent ones the swelence and control addition of a torchiful strands.

close the celebration

Annual Fourth of July celebrations continued with the addition of competitive sports, neces, target practice, and shooting matches, along with the usual firing of cannons at dawn, band music, parades, patriotic speeches, evening dances, and fireworks. The Sifter World reported that July celebration for that year, and a description of Uncompagine Peak able been published in Schoobicher Merkin, the beading paper of Stutgart,

The Pikin Guards, in full uniform, featured the July Fourth, 1854, paradic, mishich, Mayow Will Kellogy D'urn Corp also held; a prominent paradic, mishich, Mayow Will Kellogy D'urn Corp also held; a prominent Bight Dedrense, C. C. Wattles and B. B. Galvin, who rode in an open carriage in the paradic. The J. S. Hough Fire Company, the members bearing blue flags with the gold letters, JS-HF Co. No. 1, and the book likely design of the property of the property of the property labels deresced in white, each with an individual state flags, and thirty men and ten helies from the Ulay mino, on horsoback, were also featured as unit of what was perhaps the most chalouter Fourth of July parade staged with of what was perhaps the most chalouter Fourth of July parade staged and the property of the property The ceremony following this parade was equally elaborate. Flag (U.S. Uay Mine, J.S.H.F. Co., and Pixin Guardy were arranged as background, while the thirty-eight ladies, representing the states of the Union, formed a sometricel behind a natural fountian which centered the stage. At 3:00 P.M. Mayor J. C. Bell called the assembly to order and Reverend Charles Fuller opened the program with prayer. Original music. "Hall Natal Day," composed by George Wilson and C. Patz, was played, followed by a series of patriotic speeches, interpresend with appropriate

In these holiday celebrations people from all levels of society participated, including the miners and their families from the surrounding area, it is a credit to this community that national and religious holidays were observed in a suitable manner, and not allowed to go unobserved. Dansels balls, social "bops," and promenades made up a greater part of the Lake CRI social calcular. These were very similar, in that the bost music availed to the control of the control of the control of the control of the participation of the control of the c

The ball celebrating the Antelope Toll Road opening was outstanding by local standards. The date was November 6, 1875, when the community was very new. Thirty couples and many more single men were in attendance. Music was furnished by the Lee Brothers and M. Kane. Dancing began at 8:30 P.M. and lasted until midnight when a delicious supper was

The party was a wonder of culinary skill. The "clet de cuisine" was P. Maguire, After the bodily wants of the party had been ministered to, toasts, speeches and other literary exercises were delivered in order—"Our Guests," a toast, was proposed by T. H. Cannon; "A Greeting," a poem, was read by Mrs. H. F. Siddes; Major J. Carey Freach responded, and Will Cochrane read a poem. Dancing continoed them this down. On the whole, the party passed that was the continued that the party passed that will long have a place in the social calendar of Lake City.

A second ball and dimen of significance was hold July 22, 1870. It was given by the Philic Gauckin honor of the State Goorner, Frederick W- Philic. Two hundred geness attended the affair which was held in the W- Philic. Two hundred geness attended the affair which was been found by Sergenti J. C. Bell, who addressed the assembly. Following the address, the Gaurd was presented to the Governor, who Following the address, the Gaurd was presented to the Governor with the philic Gauch. Scanner is was the initial visit of the chief executive of Colorado to the community. About a year later, in Spettuders, 1880. Governor Philic neutroned for a

Early in the town's history an interest in raffles, as money raising seedness, claimed widespread attention, Miss Lizzie Wale, a music teacher, wishing to go to San Francisco, decided to raise funds by raffling her piano and household furniture. Tickets were sold for 83 cach, which entitled the holder to a chance on various articles and admission to a dance which would follow the drawing. One hundred and the rafflet lickets were sold with the strong was held Montally evening. September 30, 1875. Sam Wendelf the drawing was held Montally evening. September 30, 1876. Sam Wendelf the September 30, 1876. Sam Wendelf was september 30, 1876



LAKE SAN CRISTOBAL, four and a half miles southeast of Lake City. This is the largest natural lake in Colorado. In the background is Hinsdale Peak the request the infumous Packer measure.

On February 1, 1879, friends conducted a benefit raffle for the aged dather of Harry Ferce, who had been killed in a mining explosion. One bundred and twenty-five dollars was raised in the sale of chances on Freere's gold waster. A few month later, the widow of George Zanta was assisted by a public raffle on sale fact, the widow of George Zanta was assisted by a public raffle on sale fact, and the sale of the sale of the fore chairs, a clock, and one lot of household utensils and carpenter's

sizes and organizations used the raffle idea as a means for advertising and sales promotion. A S12 gind such was artifled by blams I levelry lead and sales promotion. A S12 gind such was artifled by blams I levelry ratified a lockboard. By 1881, raffles were all the rage. On Christmas Eve of that year. H. C. Oslope vom a S50 Meerchaum pipe, Mr. Charles Kayee a S200 gold watch, and Louis Kafla a S100 diamond ring. The state of the

Billiards offered a popular form of recreation from the beginning of settlement. Most saloons and recreation halls provided facilities for the game, while stakes of varying value offered inducement. Larry Dolan fitted his billiard parlor in elegant style. His place, though small, would man with a pleasing personality, established the first exclusive billiard parlor in Lake City.

His Grand Arcade announced a match game of billiards for the night ladies played "Presbyterian billiards" (croquet) and amused themselves

With the natural facilities like Lake San Cristobal, Henson Creek, Lake Fork, and numerous small lakes in the area, fishing and outdoor sports proved of keen interest to most residents. San Cristobal, the largest recreation. In September, 1876, E. F. Bennett built and placed a six and enjoyed a fine patronage. The following June, Jones and Tremble

By June, 1879, a restaurant opened at the foot of the lake, and additional boats were supplied. A four-horse team transported visitors the four miles from Lake City to Lake San Cristobal. Fifty cents was

Winter sports included skating, sleighing, and coasting. The cold clear nights were perfect for these sports, which were popular with both from Lake City proper furnished an ideal sleigh run. Private sleighs were people made an ice sled-run from 150 feet to 200 feet up the slope of

During warmer seasons hikes into the mountains and raspberry picking parties were both profitable and pleasurable. "In the high found. People from the canyon, and many from Lake City, took their sugar and jars and set out for a berry patch in August. They camped several

days at a time."

The young people and adults frequently hiked to the summit of one of the nearby peaks. The most pretentious, of course, was the ascent of Uncompaghre Peak, 14,306 feet, one of the highest in the Rocky Mountain

Of the group trips to the summit of Uncompaghre, the largest was probably the twenty-one member party from Lake City, Capital City, and idea was to place an American flag on the 14,300 cummit as a Fourth suffered severe shock and pain; but the flag flew from the highest summit

Miners in the Engineer Mountain area took recreation in the winter Cabin, a distance of three miles, in fifteen minutes. On an easy downgrade

Target shooting was a favorite sport of many, and as early as March, with the best average received the purse. Occasionally the stakes varied

Six crack shots of Lake City went out this afternoon to try their skill on the side of the mountain. Then the firing began. Later it was

Roller skating was added to recreational sports by September, 1884, when a skating rink was opened in the Opera House. Interest Leon LeFeyre, for example, shot through the front door the first night the

adults and fifteen cents for children. Ladies were admitted free, also children, if accompanied by adults. By the end of October, admission speed and stake races were added. The popularity of this sport increased

interruptions, until the early spring of 1885.

In mining communities, burros were always in evidence, since they of the tour. Mrs. Heath recalled a favorite pastime of the younger people

Participation in competitive sports accounted for the use of much leisure time, and fostered good feeling of sportsmanship, as well. L. R.

A Fourth of July celebration was not complete in those early days his hammer and his drills into town and in the main square was of spectators. By muscles worked hard and fast for the cash; sweat rolled down the leathery faces and broad chests heaved under loosened shirt fronts. A hot July sun beat down, the time was up, the winner was congratulated.

The great American game, baseball, was a popular sport in Lake City as early a Spril, 1876. At that time the Bonaura Bacchall Club was formed with Frank Curtis as president. Ground was selected and laid out for a ball diamond, and practice schedules were set. Games with other hall clubs in the San Juan area provided incentive and wholesome recreation until 1891 when the club dishanded. The advent of bore racing also came to Lake City in the summer of 1875. Entry fees provided handome purses and betting made the sport exiting as well as rewarding to the winners.

Boxing was a popular sport. Typical of the early matches, was the one between miners Allen and Goss. The fight latest for one hour and fifty-two minutes. Due to a foul, Goss won the decision as well as the worst poundament, for he was badly beaten and bruised: An unusual fight of the period was recorded in the Sifeer World: A landlord in Crookeville more than the content to vacate his property. The tennat agreed to move if the land formatic to vacate his property. The tennat agreed to the challenge, Seconds and a referree were present. After twenty-free minutes and fourtheres seconds, the landered knocked out the tennat. He

A curious sport caught the fancy of some Lake Cityans in the winter of 1882, when walking matches were held from the old school house on Gunnison Avenue. W. W. Ferguson, champion of Colorado, and Ben Spraddling of Kansas City staged one such event. Ferguson gave Spraddling at five mile bead start which he was confident be could easily overcome. He

failed and lost the cord of wood, valued at \$50.

Football, baseball, and tennis continued as the prevailing sports for both participants and spectators to the close of the century. According to H. G. Heath, betting ran high on match games. One baseball game, he

one of 2000 Was been the game; was exceptionally fortunate to be on the circuit of two mildae Cuty was exceptionally fortunate to be on the circuit of mildae Cuty was the circuit of the

Singing contests, in which miners also participated, offered a form of entertainment. One such context was sponsored by the A. E. Williams Saloon on September 29, 1883. The audience was large and orderly, John H. Cox from Ulay Mine, sang "Beautiful Falace." Three Perished the September 20, 1983. The audience was large and orderly to the shown and "Lova Annong the Moses. He received first prize, a series of the shown and "Lova Annong the Moses." He received first prize, a series of the shown and "Lova Annong the Moses. He received first prize, a series of the shown and "Lova Annong the Moses." He received first prize, a series of the shown and the shown

In the fall of 1883, Lake City's new Opera House officially opened.

The dedicatory program featured a performance of Shakespeare's

"Macbeth," by a local cast. The quality of performance was not reported

With advante stage facilities now available, travelling companies incided Lake City in their interary. Eard Lyan. "A Serious Family, and Fanchon, the Cricker were presented by the Felix A and Eva Vincest Company beginning September 10, 1891. "He Stulk Eva Work Theatre Company and the Hewith Musteth were booked in Mol. Theorem 2000 and the Hewith Musteth were booked in Mol. The Ostaron or Sonk Before the War," during the summer of 1890, while the Pringle Company appeared before a "show-hungy" crowd in February, 1894. The Chicago Concert Company came in April, 1894, under the sponsor-

ship of the A.O.U.W.

Dog shows, impersonators, hobo musicians, and a variety of local talent rounded out the theatrical performances during the early time. Audiences were appreciative and very generous in their applause. Performers felt well repaid for including this comparatively isolated town in their itherative.

Lextures were also a part of the public entertaintent fare. For the most part, they were brought to Lake City under sponsorship of the temperance societies or for political purposes. In 1878, Susan B. Anthony rode into town on horseback, and mivited the people to gather in front of the Court House to hear her talk on Woman's Suffrage. The response was sufficiently encouraging to warrant a return trip the following year.

Miss Authony was here last Thursday and Friday evenings. (September 30 and 21). The first evening she addressed the largest audience that ever assembled in the San Juan Country. The Court House would not hold half the people, so the meeting was adjourned to the outside. There is a strong feeling here in favor of the movement, and I would not be much supprised if Hinsdale County should give a majority

On January 31, 1878, William Penn Harbottle presented a dramatic lecture-recital of Shakespeare's "Henry V" in which he portrayed all forty parts. Harbottle, of New York, was a winter visitor in Lake City. Awain there is no recorded commentary as to the quality of the show.

Apparently those who came to the new land seeking gold and silver brought with them a desire for grease paint and stage lights as well, for a January 15, 1876, a dramatic association was organized. Among the members were many who had had previous stage experience in school and community, or in professional theaters. The first performance of this

The dramatic entertainment Wednesday evening, February 2, at Finley's Hall played to a crowded house. The drama, "Among the Breakers" was presented. Songs, dances, jigs, and darkey delineations were given at the close of the play, Expenses incurred in preparation

The second entertainment of the dramatic association, February 19, was rated superior to the preceding one. By February, 1877, Lake City had a second dramatic organization, The Shakespeare Club. In the meantime the original dramatic association had changed its name to the "As You Like It" Club and announced an ambitious season. Twenty members would

perform in: "Ten Nights in a Barroom," "Our American Gousin," "As Serious Family, "Divorce," "Two Orphans," "As Kiss in the Dark, "Loss of a Lover," and "East Lynne." The season opened February 13, with a processitation of "The Toolles," a domestic drama in two acts, the "Spirit Lation of "East Lynne" in Kelly's Hall, Marei a Well-Serious Control of "East Lynne" in Kelly's Hall, Marei a Well-Serious Control of "East Lynne" in Kelly's Hall, Marei a Well-Serious St. O. Sins, which indicated the success of the "As You Late 1" Club."

Dramatic organizations flourished and waned with almost uncanny regularity during the ensuing years. Always, however, there seemed to be a nucleus of interested people to vitalize a group of thespians and present a benefit performance, or enliven a dull season with a home-talent play.

Vocal and instrumental music commanded attentions in the field of recreation and entertainment. In 1877, it was ammounted that lack GR had two pianos, one owned by Mrs. J. W. Breckett, and the other by George Gordner. The latter was a Chickering, purchased in Decree for 8000 and Gordner. The latter was a Chickering, purchased in Decree for 8000 and was soon compensated for when a proper five product of musical instruments was soon compensated for when a product of the product of the sound conductor, two flutes, two violins, a cello, a piano, and two zithers. A Grand of 1879, The rest year the flowly Mountain Staffer Cide was propused in 1805. The next year the flowly Mountain Staffer Cide was compensated for two flutes, one flags of the staffer of two flutes, one flags of the staffer of two flutes, one flags of two flutes, one flags of two flutes, one flags of the staffer of the staffer of two flutes, one flags of two flutes, one flags of the staffer of two flutes, one flags of two flutes.

one contra bass, was organized.

The early settler of Lake City combined talent, friendilmess, community sparit and native surroundings with a desire to utilize leisure time must be a program of varied interests in the field of community and coved as program of varied interests in the field of community or the community of the community of the community or the community of the

Chapter VII At Home in Lake City

AMD THE BUSTLING town and mining activities, the homes remained the true center for an enduring community. Settlers from the central and outern states brought with them the dominant code of middle-class suspectability. This included actoring of eliminia behavior that eschword financial independence and found a lady a proper place to be in the lone. Waterses, thop-girls and diversambles frequently found it necessary to explain their independence. Widows circumvented the necessary of such whater places are the properties of the contract of the contract of well acquantions by warring vells, known as widows weeds, for a

Girls who arrived in Lake City desiring to fulfill "the natural and most honored vocation for women," found little difficulty in acquiring a bashand and a home. Scarcity accentuated demand among the dominantly male populace and insured respect for girls who wanted a home and family. Only two feminine occupations were regarded as "respectable."

TYPICAL OF LATER OUTSTANDING HOMES in Lake City. It was built 1890. It is well preserved and presently owned by Roy Scovil of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Hinstale Peak is seen in the background. The residence is surrounded by tall cottonwood trees planted by vioneers in 1882.



52



AN EARLY DAY PRIVATE HOME on Silver Street. The lawn and tall trees are well preserved and most attractive. The home is presently owned by Harold Stewart of Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

Pioneer school teachers were above reproach, though they were expected to become housewives within a short time. Most did. Telephone operators were respected, possibly because local gossips could easily ascertain their devotion to duty.

Resident girls found local bachelors auxious to provide a wide range of diversions, designed to attract and win a bride. During the winter, informal skating and sledding parties were common. Summer permitted the secons to mignle at picnics, canoning parties, and similar outings in the nearby thils. Small parties of young people even made excursions to the control of the providence of the

hided to Crystal Lake for pieniss and a commanding view of Lake City. Horseback riding was also popular among the young people. Liven men maintained an ample supply of boxes, and Concord or Texas buggies for those who did not own them. Other outings included berry-picking parties, fishing excursions and boating ventures on Lake San Cristobal. The latter proved very popular during the summer, unless an afternoon rain surprised the mountain sailors. For the young, life in the high country was not all fun, yet, interesting diversions entitlemed nown life even for all one of the contract of the

Established housewives and their husbands also sponsored informal parties and dances to encourage traditional patterns of courtship and marriage. Sometimes, such events even included a home-cooked support for its celebrants

While traditional patterns of courtship were recreated, insofar as facilities would permit, engagements during the early years were of shorter duration than in the East. Beaux who hesitated with proposals of marriage often found themselves replaced by more actious suitors. Glirk who relused nameous offers of marriage were frequently open to suspicion by the settled community. For those who accepted offers of marriage, small weddings were the rule, often, the ceremony took place in the bride's home, with a travelling or temporary minister officiating. A few friends signed the families for the ceremony, and well-wishers gathered in a local bottle or restaurant for a goot-feremony reception.

New husbands, generally, made every effort to make their new homes comfortable for their wives. Rental property was scarce, so most found it advantageous to build homes. Few contained "perfumed parlors" yet the new homes had the furnishings that well suited the Colorado frontier. Shimments from St. Louis, Denver, and Pueblo arrived almost daily, and

he new homes were by no means crudely furnished.

Most of the pioneer wives fitted well into their role of homemakers and bouscheepers. Homes were near and orderly, and a housewile who was especially particular about dusting, received the 'special commendiant' of her assessment, and the state of the s

Life for the early Lake City housewife was not without pleasures and diversions. Patries at home were frequent. Anniversative occasioned numerous home celebrations. Pitty couples crowded a modest Lake City more on one occasion in 1878 to celebrate the tenth wedding anniversary of the popular local druggist and his wife. The local magnitude performed a second wedding ceremony for the copie, and severable performed a second wedding ceremony for the copie, and severable performed as a second wedding ceremony for the copie, and severable performed as a second wedding ceremony for the copie, and severable performed as a second wedding ceremony for the copie, and severable performed as a second wedding the copie and the second performance of the copies o

the next day, but "a good time was had by all," reported the local paper.

The fifth wedding anniversary of a local furniture dealer attracted eighty celebrants to a similar party. It featured dancing to the music of three local musicians. These celebrations were not limited to any particular season of the year, but gave year-round recognition to the institution

Bittlelays pavided a perennial opportunity for gatherings of respectable pioners: Henry Finley, one of the Lake City twon trustees, and a linal real estate and lumber deader, asked twenty-five couples to a party collecturing its sort in thirdsp. The properties of the properties of

The editor of the Silver World doubtless was becoming weary of these events, that even included trout breakfasts. Thus, local readers probably excused their editor, when he wrote in January, 1878, that, "Private parties are very numerous, there being one nearly every night at someone's home."

The frequency of home parties placed a premium on improvisation in devising new forms of diversion for guests. Housewire readily responded to the challenge. Thereis are planned progressive dimers, beginning with soup in one home, and then planned progressive dimers, beginning the source of the planned progressive course at other homes. Fancy dress and costume virtue slab brought variety in the local social life in summer months, criteria slab brought variety in the local social life in summer months, criteria games call when the local social life in swinter, games of Whits, Euror, and a game called religious the summer progression of the progression o

While the men worked at their sarious tasks and trades, the housewess, old and new participated in, dunch, school and home activities that contributed greatly to the development of the lade City community at As bousekeepers, party planners, school patrons, some some consequence of the contributed greatly to the development of the lade City community and the work of the contributed greatly to the development of the lade City community and the party of the contributed greatly and the party of the contributed greatly and the party of the contributed greatly and the party of the party of

A TYPICAL EARLY LAKE CITY HOME on Gunnison Avenue. It is land scaped with the beautiful cottonwood trees, native to this city. The home is well preserved and still maintains its attractive appearance.



Chapter VIII

Civic Clubs and Duties

LODGES, FRATERNAL ORDERS, civic organizations and private clubs flourished in the early years of Lake City's history. They were responsible for social affairs restricted to members, and contributed, as well, to the experts local and recreational pattern of the community.

In September, 1875, members of the Masonic Lodge proposed the establishment of a lodge in Lake City. Twenty masons, who left themselves sufficiently permanent residents to affiliate with a local order, met on December 4 of that year. To provide a suitable meeting place, these men formed the Lake City Masonic Building Association, with a capital stock.

of \$2,00 and formulated plans for the eventual construction of a long funal. Preliminary mentings of the measuring proposed and preliminary mentings of the measuring proposed and present a sology location. The group new numbered seventy-five, but no one was competent to confer deepers, Erneforto, John B. Haffy, of Del Norte, was secured to give instruction to the officers elseved Affects and AM. groups. By February, 1978, afficient progress that been made along ment being the present proposed and the present location of the present present present proposed and the present pre

tollowing October.

A permanent ladie, ediple for an Estern Star chapte, began meetladie, ediple for an Estern Star chapte, began meetladie, ediple for an Estern Star chapte, began meetladie, star of the star of the

both orders.

The Silver Star Lodge, No. 27, 10, 0.F. was the first fraternal order in Lake City to receive a charter, Although it held its organization meeting and the control of the comparation of the comparation of the comparation for this lodge were field with the Secretary of State, July 19, 1877. Weekly meetings were held in Brockett Hall. The first New Year of the Order was observed in special style. The Rocky Mountain

Lake City, the metropolis of a large and rich portion of the San Juan Country, observed New Year's day in a manner that does credit to the present frontier civilization, a product that appears in kid gloves,

calls in the barber and appeals to svallow tail costs at grand balls and parties. In accordance with previous amounteement, the ladies and parties. In accordance with previous amounteement, the ladies of the ladi

The Silver World described the first I.O.O.F. Ball as follows: The display of elegant tollettes exceeded any previous excision in Lake City. The ladies were elegantly dressed, a large contain in formal attire, and many men wore talk and kid glores. Wheeler's Quadrille Band played for dancing, which lasted until 5 A.M. A supper, prepared by the ladies of the Order, was served at midnight.

Another important early day function of the Silver Star Lodge was the laying of the cornerstone for the Court House. The ceremony was held on April 11, 1877. Ceneral Sickles was in closes. The ceremony was held stone were: the Constitution and By-Laws of 1, O.O.F. of the corners of the Court of the Cour

Members of the LO.O.F. in Lake City assumed the responsibility for perpetual care of the cemetery. Other organizations were invited to join in this project, and annual Memorial Day services were included under

the sponsorship of this group.

1. N. Rogers, Grand Master, and J. M. Norman, Grand Secretary of Colorado, installed the auxiliary unit of the LO.O.F., the Rebekah Lodge, Spetember 2, 1892. Thirty members received degrees on that date. Meetings proceeded regularly and usually were followed with whist parties, or other forms of social entertainment.

. The following account of a fraternal order social event was reported the $Silver\ World$:

Members of O.O.H. (Order of Humility) have been wearing black badges with "O.O.H." on them; but they will celebrate Tuesday, April 4. There will be a street parade, with members in full uniform, and a brass band. A public dance will follow.

The street parade proved quite sensational, even grotesque. Masked members, bearing torches and wearing fantastic constumes, marched in the parade. The brass hand was somewhat inharmonious, because the members had practiced only two days. Eighty couples and many extra men enjoyed the dance which followed in Graff's Hall.

The following December, on Chrismas Eve, the O.O.H. held an elaborate management ball at Found Hall. Members of the order appeared in the costume of the organization. Jongs red parts, black woolen visors. The assemblage was very select. Only 100 we may all guests were costumed and unmasking occurred at midnight. Masquerade balls seemed to be a favorite form of entertainment for this organization as several were given reads. To greened unmiveled guests.

from entering the hall, masks were raised before a committee assigned

to door duly. Union solidies met Monday, March 19, 1883, to organize a shaper of the Grand Army of the Republic States men signed the application, and the charter was approved on May 19 of that year. The chapter off include the names of forty members. The principles of Ca Al. such charter was proved on May 19 of that year. The application of the charter of the cha

The Good Tomplar Ledge, a temperance organization, was established in Lake City on June 1, 1883, with forty charter members. It was known as the "Golden Rule Ledge." The activities included the sponsorship of temperance lectures, and the presentation of plays, such as "Ten Nights in a Barroom," and literary programs of temperance significance. The Good Templars often allied with the LO.O.F. in civic projects in

The Good Templars often allied with the I.O.O.F. in cave projects in Lake City.

The Ancient Order of United Workmen (AOUW) had a very active

unit in Lake. City, beginning in 1894. First meetings were held in the LOO.F. tall. but in June 4, 1898, this order purchased Christian Hall and remodelled it for lodge purposes. The auxiliary to AOUW, Ladies of the Degree of Honor, organized and became active in lodge and civic affairs.

In the late 1890's a chaoter of The Improved Order of Red Men.was.

established. The social events of this organization were highlights of each season. Members appeared in Indian dress, and the ladies also were Indian costumes.

The Lake City Phonograph expressed the scope and influence of loders in Lake City in this manner:

There is probably no torn of its size in the state that can boast of so many strong lodges of the prominent and secret societies as Lake (City. The Maono, Workmen, and Odd Fellows all have a large and stering membership, and the ladies auxiliaries. Eastern Star. Degree of Honor, and Rebekalis, respectively, are not behind their brethren in their enthusiasm and real for the success of their order. The independent Order of fixed Men tails has a large trible here and expect

Two organized units have been mentioned in connection with various parales and celbertainers. The Pikin Canarls and the J. S. Hough Fire Company No. 1. These groups were active during the formattive years of lake City. The Pikin Canards was Company C. First Regiment of the Colorado National Canard. The men were mustered into service on March 1, 1878, with thirty-ship incurbers. American of the area of the picture of the 1878, with thirty-ship incurbers. American of the area from possible uprisings or attacks from the Use. The Armory was located in the Hough Baddlidge, Required rill was plead and a slogle blast was bloom nightly.

On May 14, 1879, the Lake City Guards met for a general rereanization, Captain George J. Richards, chairman, and Morgan Draper



THE JOHN S. HOUGH hose and ladder truck with the local Armory in the background. This building is still used as a community center for meetings, recreation, bingo games, dances and special celebrations.

secretary, took charge of the meeting. A letter from General Frank Italia assured them of state support and swappy of uniforms, as one a possible. Thirty-nine men signed the re-organization roll and the mane, Pittin Genthi, in boson of Geoverner F. W. Pittin, was adopted. Regular drill the control of the

In 1882, the Pithin Chards went to Denver to participate in the ceremony to honor President Clark Arthur, who attended the Mining Exposition. A brass band had because A. Arthur, who attended two recruits added to the rolls, and some of the officerous motions. Also, in this year, the Covernor and his wife and daughter extra presence was the inspiration for a large party in their by her Celly. Their presence was the inspiration for a large party in their by her Celly.

The Twelfth Anniversary Ball of the Pilkin Caurds, given May 14, 1991, was of special significance. The Guards now claimed the distinction of being the oldest continuous military organization in Colorado. The anniversary party made special note of this distinction. During the spring and to the regret of citizens of Lake City. How setting the standards may be considered to the regret of citizens of Lake City. How Special 1988, the Company was ready and shortly may left for Denver.

A reception was held as a "going away" party. Patriotic speeches were aba-phongs were sung and daniering continued until the hour of departure. The following October, a benefit ball was held in the Armory. It was in the form of a farwed lor Captain S. S. Eddy. Proceeds from the ball were sent to Lake City boys in Manila. Company A gave a "Welcome Home" anaker in October, 1889, for four men who had just returned from the

The bound of firm layers all locknot communities, and Lake City was no exception. Her Tractes of the twon began stranging with this publies in Agril, 1877, when it was proposed that a system of ditches be desired to utilitie water from Henson Creek for fire-fighing purposes. A call was given for volunteer firenen, and on August 9, 1877, a 30-3 Bedock fire-fighing machine, with book and law comparised at once relative to the control of \$975. The control of \$975 and \$975 are control of \$975 are control

The Fire Company made regular practice runs, but had no actual experience until the night of October 18, 1877, when the Bon Ton Saloon

THE HOSE AND TANK TRUCK of the John S. Hough Volunteer Fire Company, It was purchased in 1882.



caught fire. The blaze was discovered too late for the fighters to save the building, but the limits of the fire were contained. Losses ran between

\$4,000 and \$5,000 to the wooden structure in the vicinity of the above As a result of this fire, the merchants and real extent men organized and As a result of this fire, the merchants and real extent men organized as the protective Association and made arrangements for a nightly parted to a protective through the structure of the protection and the protection that the protection and the protection are also as a structure of the protection and the structure of the structure of

The danger of fire was now noticeably acute. But it was not until March 6.1882, that the John S. Hough Fire Company was organized, John Hough, benefactor, for whom the company was named, had been a subsecond of the constitutional Convention in 1576. He was an unsuccessful candidate for constitutional Convention in 1576. He was an unsuccessful candidate for which was known as the Hough Block. He was in Lake City he constructed what was known as the Hough Block. He was the original owner of the Pallmette group on finities, from which he acquired

his wealth. The Frank Hough Mine was named for his only son.

The flough Fire Company had reward-them members and its equipment included, three force purps, 000 feet of hose, a show and ladder ment included. There force purps, 000 feet of hose, a show and ladder in strategic places. The bulbook extinguishers. Three wells were located in strategic places. The bulbook extinguishers are supplemented it along his great and 200 pound led and a boor rest. The bulbook fire Company became, not only a protective agency against the bulbook fire Company became, on only a protective agency against his bulbook fire Company became, not only a protective agency against all parades in full uniform and cooperated with other organizations in all parades in full uniform and cooperated with other organizations in City, March 24, 130, 130 fire Company, No. 1 was incorporated in Lake City, March 24, 130, 130 fire Company, No. 1 was incorporated in Lake

Between 1877 and 1890 private dancing clubs thrived. Among those organized were: The Silver Star, the Lotus, Qui Vice, Silver Circle, Jollyites, and Hinsdale Club. The last monitional varieties of

House building

By 1890, the interest had swung to eard edits and literary societies. The leading must, club, known as the Lade CBy Club, was organized. November 20, 1894, and maintained chio quarters in the Armory Bulding. November 20, 1894, and maintained chio quarters in the Armory Bulding provided for member 20, 1894, and maintained were provided for member 20, 1894, and 1894

Debating claimed the attention of many in the early 1890's. A Debating Society was organized on March 3, 1884, and a series of regularly scheduled debates on current topics followed. Such subjects as "Resolved, that prohibition is the best way to remove the evil of intemperance." "Resolved, that labor saving machinery has been a benefit to the laboring was medium of the processing of the property of the propert

Lead to the Lead of the Lead of the Lead of the Lead of Lead o

interest.

Among the clubs organized for young people was the Archery Club, formed on June 22, 1883, and the Uterian Archery Club, organized in 1883. The Chryseis Club for young girls twelve to sixteen was started in 1884. It received its name from Chryseis in Homer's "Iliad," the beautiful

needlework and learning social graces.

The advent of the bicycle brought about the formation of the Lake

City Wheal Club Thirty prophers regularly toured to nearly points of

interest. Races were held and on October 20, 1895, six memb club participated in the Montrose-Denver relay bicycle race.

In addition to the entertainment generated by social clubs and organizations, individuals held many social events throughout the years. The people who settled Lake City, and became its permanent citizens. Because the second of the control of the

Calling days were observed, according to Mrs. Liska. The ladies had elaborate card cases to carry with them. Trays of cards near the door, or in the parlor, measured the popularity of the hostess. Sometimes one would bope a prospective hostess might not be in, then one could leave a card and hurry on to discharge another social obligation. By careful planning, it was

possible to make as many as eighteen calls in a single afternoon.

Each week the social calendar was crowded with private parties, particularly during the winter months. Birthdays and anniversaries offered splendid reasons for planned festivities. "Tim" and "Wooden" wedding

anniversaries were most popular. Always appropriate gifts were present

humorous mock wedding ceremony was performe

Summer called for picnic plans and family hikes into the mountains. While the men fished, the women and children collected crystals and rock specimens. Often the evenings were spent in croquet matches. Mrs. Annie

Dona remembered that women prepared for days for those family picnics. The trips were made in wagons and othen several families would join the an overright trip into the mountains. A favorite event for the wast the annual midsummer party at lakes's rates five mids morth of the state traveled by train to the reach. They arrived early in the morning area of the morning of the state of the state

The Lake City Times summed up the situation regarding entertainment for the town's young people by saying:

In one sense of the word, Lake City is the young people's paradise. The younger class seem to enjoy themselves to the full extent, with parties and social gatherings, and the parents and older ones seem to take pride in helping the young people in their pleasure.

In retrospect, one must consider the isolated location of Lake City, the forniter lawlessess which always confronts a mining community, the diversity of its people, the extreme winter was made lack of accustomed conveniences and conforts, before evaluate means and social history of the early years. This considered, it would seem that this particular community must have followed strong leadership which recognized usual social problems in a frontier camp, and solved them with an excepted pattern of social activity which included all ages and levels.

The saloon, bawdy houses, transient workers, and other disrupting common the saloon was the saloon transient workers, and other disrupting collections are saloon to the saloon the saloon transient of a cultured would have decisated the efforts toward the establishment of a must be credited to the about code of living. That these did not succeed must be credited to the about common transient of the saloon transi Chapter IX

The Other Side of Society

REFERENCE HAS BEEN made in previous chapters to the conflict between the two elements in Lake City: the lawless and the law-abiding. For that reason, it is of interest and significance to cite some specific infractions of the law which disturbed an otherwise peaceable and pro-

On August 7, 1875, the Silver World reported horse thieves were active in the area, and added, "we are not particularly fond of scenes of iolence, but we don't know anything that would afford our citizens more

jest yet the problem was present

The "banting fewer" apparently had been growing, because a few puilsb persons, JN, Ford, a newcome into comp, bad made an ungrosulted parkers, JN, Ford, a few concern into comp, bad made an ungrovaled and cowardly attack on William Cardner, severely slashing his back with a fained. Gardner was well liked in the community and his freuds resented the attack. Talk of hasping started. The men were personal resented the attack. Talk of hasping started. The men were personal member of the started in the started in the comparent of the member of the started in the started in the started in the member of the started in the started in the started in the member of the started in the latest the started in the started in the started was taken to the Do Norte jail where charges were filled. Cardner

Perhaps it was this difficulty of getting a guilty verdict in court and commensurate punishment that made men prefer to settle matters in their own way. A case in point was reported in the Silver World:

Some horses and mules have been stolen from this vicinity, either by an organized band of thieves, or by parties who want a cheap yet expeditious way of leaving the county. Anyone found with a stolen horse wouldn't be bothered by questions, but would be allowed a

Eage for some law enforcement, a posse set out to apprehend the horse thieves. Two were caught near Del Norte by Sheriff W. T. King and his party, and were returned to Lake City for prelimizary bearing. The thieves were bound over and held in a temporary jail, the only such space available, and enter the present of the present present and present and able, and enter the party of the present present and present and present sheriff we enter the party to make an inspection, and Lewis, thinking Allen uses all the present present present present present present present present the controller, freed through the window, merally swounding him. In

Accusers, as well as accused, were often admonished, as in the case

of Bill Miller, who accused Jimmy Dolan of theft. Dolan was arrested and brought to trial. The case was dismissed for lack of evidence. This is the second case of this kind that has county occurred in Lake Gity," commented the Sifter World editor. "We should advise persons sustaining such losses to be more sure of their evidence before bringing parties into courts to defend their good name," when the sure of th

Theft seemed the most prevalent crime in the early years. Sometimes it caused civic embarrassment, as when visitors from Del Norte had the cushions taken from their carriages, and, while they were at breakfast next morning, their shoes and blankets taken from their rooms. Comment-

ing on this incident, the Silver World offered as a suggestion:

It would be doing a favor to the community to make it publicly
known if anyone knows who has these articles. We have no jail here
for the confinement of petty offenders; but a few lashes and orders
to leave the aware cheal be seen.

In April, 1876, the town trustees considered the matter of an adequate jail. A committee was appointed to prepare plans and obtain estimates for the construction of a building. By June, 1876, a log structure neared completion. The Silver World termed it "a log 'calaboose,'" and further stated that it was

... admirably adapted as a "cooler." A drunk might possibly avoid getting out, while, if lying in it overnight to get "cooled off," the police will have no more trouble than to return a "non ext inventus," and draw their fees. A square arrangement all around and one which we hope will prove equally satisfactory to taxawavers and offenders.

This cynicism prevailed in the community as the "calaboose" continued to serve only as a safe depository for drunks. The Silver World waxed poetic over the "lugging" of an inebriated female to the "boose" one Thurday night, saying "who she was and how she fared, nobody knew and

Meanwhile, gunplay and fist fights were used as a means of settling differences. When doubt arose as to be guilt of the surviving party, he was placed under boad and held for preliminary bearing. One such alterest was placed under boad and held for preliminary bearing. One such alterest may be used to be a such as the present of the preliminary bearing. One of the desired and an innocent bystander wounded. Opinions divided as to who dress under limit was been done to find the such as the preliminary bearing the such as the such as the such as the preliminary bearing the such as the such

The town trustees increased the police force at this time, by appointing E. Eastman and William McBride to serve as special officers. Their pay was to be \$5 for each arrest and conviction. W. R. Montieth and Frank Knisley were appointed to the night force, at a salary of \$50 each per

Winter months gave a respite from serious crimes. Transient workers and drifters, who usually were credited with provoking lawlessenses, moved to warmer climates. In February, 1877, however, the town board made an inspection of the juil, and authorized the expenditure of \$150 to make it more secure. The Silver World approved the project, and addeed.

Fortunately at present there is little or no use for a jail; but with the advent of spring, will, no doubt, come more or less lawless characters upon whom the strong hand of the law will frequently have

to be placed, then a better jail will be demanded. City ordinances began to take form early in 1877. Peddlers were required to pay \$25 a year license fee; the 55 male and \$15 fermide obey its stage, and the place of the place

on May 17, 1877, when H. F. Fraley was charged with assault and battery. He had appeared before Judge Frank Curtis, May 7, 1877, and was fined

\$3 and costs of \$26.85.

ne docke	et of	criminal cases in D	istrict Court, June 18, 1877, listed:
cople	vs	Daniel Emmit	Murder
eople	VS	Daniel Emmit	Rape

Judge Thomas M. Bowen was the presiding judge. At this term of court, we cases were dismissed, and the other defendants had broken jul and escaped. The new jul was, as yet, not as secure as hoped by its supporters. Personal law enforcement continued with the use of a "At Colf," a shot gun, a ".38," a six-shooter, or fists, knives, and clubs. Business cowners, saloon keepers, bartenders, and mine superintendents were armed in

Race trouble was not unusual, and Mexican laborers at the mines were frequently involved in gun play. A small war of the races broke out in Crookeville early in July, 1877, with a "free for all fight between three Americans and four "soics' resulting in a brilliant victory for the former,"

according to the San Juan Crescent.

Yet the Rocky Mountain News, on August 9, 1877, observed:
The crowd (L.C.) is noisy but good natured. Street brawls are
scarce and the crack of the playful six-shooter is rarely heard. When
they do fight, however, it is in earnest; but the coroner is always
on hand and as soon as the smoke subsides, darts in and lugs off the

Characteristic of this "shooting in current" was the street fight between William Brock from Caminon and Tom King of Lab Gifty, which occurred on April 0, 1597. King had publicly threatened to kill Brock, who had served on April 0, 1597. King had publicly threatened to kill Brock, who had served the street of the street of

On August 6, 1877, a culprit felt the cruel hand of citizen punishment for crime. The incident was reported in the Silver World:

Last Monday a brute answering to the equiponious name of Whithing Jack's attempted a nameless crime upon the person of a small boy, at the lower end of town. The cries of the child brought covered in more server of the assault, who, which this hand, succeeding the contraction of the contraction of

Election day in early Lake City times provided tempers and caused violence. An example is the murder of Lather Bleas, a quiet, inoffensive young man. Rhea and Jack Wells, an express driver, even former over the election. Wells spote dispuragingly of candidate J. W. Hughes, Rhea rosented the language and struck Wells. The incident smouldered in Wells mind while he sport the evening looking for Rhea. Finding bins in the Centennial Salson, Wells walked up to him and opened fire. Within towerly mintest Rhea was dead. Wells was arrested, charged in the contract of the cont

Rhea's funeral service was condusted at the Preshyterian Church by Reverend George Darley and Reverend B. B. Dundas, assisted by J. H. Merritt, presiding elder of the Southern District of Colorado. The Lake City band played a last tribute with muffled drums. Wells was equal of the murder of Rhea after a trial was held in Del Norte on April 5, 1878. The witness of Lake City shared the diagnat violed by the Sifter World

editor over the verdict.
Election violence continued: in fact, an election unmarked with
violence was rare. September 28, 1878, the Silver World decried the situation, editorially.

There are rumors that another man is to be "put out of the way" on election day. Is Lake City to be disgraced at every election by rowdysm and drunkeness? Is its name to be forever stational with blood? Are the knife and pixto to control our elections? Is a fair and free election to be prevented and free speech and free thought to be stifled by fear of assassination? We call upon our officers to see that peace is preserved; that the city ordinance, closing all saloons, is rigidly enforced; that they see to it that candidates 'workers' at the polis do not keep' open bouse and brainsh free whiskey to voters, as has openly been done at previous elections, to the end that many not lose their reasons become braits; and while in liquor.

Videous growing out of election shader continued, as evidenced by the Young-Bennett showing fray in November 1881. Franc. Generate was a candidate for clerk on the Republican ticket. His character had been cantically assaided by his opponent. The two engaged fractions are considered to the control of the

The Ute uprising in the fall of 1879 caused much concern and alarm. All owners and children in Lake City and vicinity were taken to underground mine workings on Henson Creek, where they could be guarded safely. No violence was inflicted on Lake City residents or residents in the mining camps, though Josephine Meeker, a young girl, and her companions

An ironic note was sounded in an embezzlement charge against Harry A. McIniter. The Saguache Chronicle, June 17, 1876, announced his arrival in Lake City from Colorado Springs. He had come to establish a branch of the First National Bank of that city Of McGring Vis Bortunate to lave so fine a man. In January, 1880, Mediatre was charged and convicted by a court for embezzing \$40,000 from the First National Bank.

of Lake City.

By 1881, another form of lawlessness became common, robbery of
the stage line. The Silver World reported that for the fourth time within
six months the mail and express coach on the road between Alamosa and
Lake City had been waylaid and robbed. Three months later, June 30,

1881, the mail coach on the same route was again robbed.

A more efficient law enforcement program was in effect by 1882.

E.N. Campbell had been appointed sheriff in 1879. He was a hard worker, a conscientious officer and highly respected by Lake City residents. The tragedy surrounding his untimely death stands out in Lake City criminal.

tory.

George Betts and James Browning were owners of the notorious San



THE OCEAN WAVE BRIDGE, NORTH OF TOWN, OVER THE LAKE FORK OF THE GUNNSON RIVER IT WAS from this bridge that George Betts and James Browning users hanged by a lynch mob. Their boiles users left shaping from ropes for a full day, so that stood children might view a demonstration, that crime did not pay. The bridge has now been replaced by a stool structure.

Juan Central dance bouse. Frequent assualts and shootings carried for this establishment he name," one of the vollest places in the San Juan." City officials had been imperiment to chose the place. Both, a Canadhan, accurated or hobers, in the vicinity on previous occasions. Browning, who was only eighteen, seemed entitledy under the influence of Betts. The two was only eighteen, seemed entitledy under the influence of Betts. The two boose which had been built and furnished by T. W. M. Darrer, Superintendent of the Colden Fleece mine. The house was then owned by W. G. Lockett. Though the bone was uneccupied, it contained for immirrer contained to the contract of the contract of the contract of the contract of the preliminary investigation of the premises and removed some valuable articles, which were later found in their possession. Ver, before the dis-

covery, the two last plans to return to the house for more hooting.

April 25; 1582, was an exciting and happy sky in Lake City. Plans

Share and the state of the plant share and the state of two popular could be plant shared to two popular couldents. Mrs. Mich ellowing day, The Odd

Fellows Lodge had also planned an anniversary parade and celebration, while two hundred minors were preparing for a special meeting. It was while two hundred minors were preparing for a special meeting. It was

an opportune time for a roosery to be committed.

Luckett returned unexpectedly to Lake City and checked his house.

He found it had been entered again and that several things were missing.

He reported the matter to Sheriff Campbell, who summoned his deputy.

Clair Smith, and the two went to the Luckett house. The officers were

being opened. Two men entered and struck matches, clearly revealing their fettilty. All the herits's order to forty being gain and throw up their their control of the herits's order to forty being gain and throw up their Campbell returned the fire, but his bullet mixed it is an interest to the small. He called out to Smith to each the men, and died almost instantly, therefore: Smith, concerned with the sheeff's fatal ninery, did not follow the smith of potential flust the Smith method is the smith of potential flust the Smith method is smith of the smith of

A coroner's jury was summoned by Coroner Rapp. The verdict was, Campbell died of a "4" bullet which entered his left side, piercing lish heart. The bullet matched Bett's gun, Browning carried a "38." These gass were found on the near when they were captured. Bett's gun had one gass were found on the near when they were captured. Bett's gun had one specified by the princers were manacled and placed in the left center lail cell. The aftermath of the killing left on mob violence. The Sifter World

... a tribute to justice offered by 500 citizens of Lake City. All day, Wednesday, the people talked of the happenings of that early dawn. They evinced a determined feeling, and many openly advocated immediate infliction of the proper penalty. As the cyclone silently gathers its deadly power, so did the tempers of the people gather are considered to the control of the proper penalty. As the cyclone silently gathers its deadly power, so did the tempers of the people gather are considered to the proper penalty and penalty pena

The enraged citizens began gathering at the appointed place, near the sheriff's home, at 11:00 PM. The men were masked and armed with rifles. Some had ropes, others had sledges with which to hatter down the gail doors. Every able botied man in town was in the party. The moon rose, but the valley was in shadow. The men waited for the moon to decline. Three men attempted to distance the action, but they were forced to retire.

A small metal whitel gave directions to the group as it moved to all Caudro descrede the moto ball, but rifles were lowered and no one passed. In twenty minutes the jail door was broken open, and the season of the property of the property

service preceded that of their victim.

The cornner pronounced the two men, "hanged by unknown parties."

School was dismissed and the children went to see the bodies hanging from
the beams of the bridge. The two girls who had persuaded Browning and
Betts to attemnt the robbery left town soon after the hanging.

The Silver World printed excerpts from the Gunnison Daily Review, Denner Republican, Denner Evening World, and Pueblo Chieftain. All approved the Betts and Browning lynching. The Silver World concurred in the opinion and asserted that crafty lawyers and legal technicalities would likely have freed them both. The editor added:

We fully and unequivocally endorse the recent action, not that we gload over it but because it was a dire necessity. We rejoice in the evidence so sternly demonstrated that the pople are not dead in spirit, calloused in native the contract of the baser element present in the community, but the weak of the theory of the contraction of the seeds, the very foundation of instired.

Funeral services for Sheriff Campbell were conducted at the Preshyterian Church, under the ampiece of the LO.O.F. Silver Lodge No. 27; which lad cancelled its planned anniversary celebration out of respecwhen the conductive control of the control of the control of the conductive control of the control of the control of the control charged in mouring, and the flag at the Court House flew at half-mast. Crice organizations marched from Campbell's home to the church and from moments when the control of the control of the control of the control City in June. 1576. He served as sheriff from April 9, 1570, until his death for let let a wife and set children, maping in age from nine months to eleven

Two and one half years later the town board passed an ordinance permitting the San Juan Central to open as a dance hall only. Closing lour was set at 1:00 A.M. and no minors were permitted to enter the establishment. A further ordinance prohibited prostitutes from entering any salon, other than regular dance halls, as well as from promenading the public streets after date.

The bridge from which Betts and Browning were hanged became a focal point of interest to tourists, as did the burial ground of five early day prospectors, the victims of Alfred Packer, confessed killer and consumer of human flesh. Though Packer's crime was committed prior

of 1885, in Lake City.

The bolies of free men, later identified as Israel Swan, Ceorge Noon, Frank Miller, Shamon Bell and Jins Humphery, a segment of a Noon Frank Miller, Shamon Bell and Jins Humphery, a segment of a Observation of the State of the S

At the trial, through the defendant's testimony, it was learned that, not only did Packer rob and kill the five men, but that their flesh was a source of food supply for him as he made his way through the snow and ice-

ound mountains to the Indian agency.

Public sentiment ran high against Packer because of this revolting evidence. However, there were others inclined to take a more charitable view. They felt that the rigors of the winter, and the hopelessness of the situation in which the men found themselves, lost, snow-bound, without food and supplies, had, no doubt removed the last vestige of samity from

all the group, as well as the survivor.

The jury found Packer guilty of murder. The sentencing by Judge
M.C. Gerry is a matter of court record:

Wherefore it is considered and adjudged by the Court, that the anil Allede Packe be and is heavily conformed to the upon the scaffold Market Packet be and is a bready conformed to the upon the best of the Town of Lake City, County aforesaid, between the borns of 10 colock AM, and 3 colock PM of soul day, and it is further controlled to the colock and the colock PM of the colock AM, and 3 colock PM, and and the place of the colock AM, and 5 colock PM, and and the place of the place of the place of the colock PM, and and the place of the place o

The gallows were constructed and special printed invitations were issued. H. G. Heath still had the invitation in 1960 which was sent to L. C. Dana. It read:

Lake City, Colorado, May 2, 1883 Mr. L. C. Dana.

You are respectfully invited to attend the execution of Alfred Packer at Lake City, Colorado, on the 19th day of May, A.D. 1883.

Clair Smith.

Sheriff
On a morning prior to the execution date, Packer was found missing from the county jail. He had been taken to the Gunnison County jail for safe keeping, while his case was appealed to the Supreme Court of Colorado. A stay of execution was granted, pending the decision of the

norano. A stay or execution was granted, pending the decision of a preme Court. The decision was handed down on July 6, 1886. A. Packer case was heard by Colorado Supreme Court, brought there on a Writ of Error. Iuly 6, 1886 notice came to District Court.

Hinsdale County:

Supreme Court ruled that, "... there is manifest error in the proceedings and judgment aforesaid of District Court. It is therefore considered and adjudged by the Court that the judgment aforesaid of said Court be, and is hereby reversed, annulled, and altogether held for naught, and that the motion to discharge said plaintiff in error be.

Wm. E. Beck, Chief Justice of S.C., Denver.
Alfred Packer, plaintiff in error
vs People of Colorado, defendent in error.

Packer was granted a new trial and change of venue to Gunnison County. There he was found guilty and sentenced to forty years at hard labor in the state penitentiary at Canon City. Around the turn of the century, through public sentiment, around by the Demer Port, and in particular, by a reporter known as Polly Pry. Packer was pardoned by Governou where, it is said, he died at year-training days on a ranch near Denver, where, it is said, he died at year-training days on a ranch near Denver.

For the remainder of the period under consideration, crimes seem to have reached courts of law more frequently than personal settlement by an aggrieved citizenry. The jail, however, was still regarded as inadequate for safe confinement, consequently, prisoners were often transferred to the Cumnion County jail. In March, 1898, a new jail, with four large secessfully confined in these unexped with crime and found guilty were successfully confined in these unexped with crime and found guilty were

The Lake City ordinance for misdemeanors in 1898 listed the following crimes and penalties:

Crime	Maximum	Minimum
Impersonating an officer	\$100	
Indecent exposure	\$100	810
Cruelty to animals	8 50	8.3
Intoxication and disorderly conduct	8 50	8 5 & jail
		until sober
Firing Arms or explosions	\$100	8 1
Sports that frighten horses	8 20	8 3
Stone throwing at buildings	8 25	8 3
Breach of peace, obscene language	\$100	8 3
Molesting strangers	\$ 50	8 5
Disturbing religious exercises	\$100	8 5
Disturbing assemblies	\$ 50	8 1
False fire alarm	8 25	8 1
Disorderly house	\$100 & loss	
	of license	8 5
Injuring streets	8 50	8 5
Aiding prisoners to escape	\$100	8 5
Intimidation by weapons	\$ 50	
Immoderately riding, training or		
breaking animals-(Citizen arrest		
permitted)	\$100	\$ 1
Quarreling, fighting, breach of peace	\$ 25	8 5
Obstructing streets	\$ 25	8 5
Driving faster than walk over bridges	\$ 25	8 5
Concealed weapons	\$100	825 & weapons
		seized and sold
Vagrancy	8 25	8 5
Resisting arrest	\$100	\$ 5

The Minor's strike in March, 1890, constituted the last major act of violence in the period. Two mines were affected, the and Ulay and the Hidden Treasure. About one hundred men were involved, forty of whom were Italian. The Italians were members of a recently organized local minor of the Western Federation of Miners. A few native Americans also held membership in this union. The mining commanies involved issued an

order requiring all single men to board at company boarding bouses. Findians retissed to comply the order and went on strike. They brinke into the Armory of Co. A. 2nd Infantry in Lake City and carried season are more of the the Lake City and carried season and driven off by the Infants who threatwest to short they were off the Principles of the Principles bear out of the Principles been confidented, but all Winterberr rifles and other of the Principles of the Principles been confidented, but all Winterberr rifles and other them.

On March 16 Governor Charles S. Thomas ordered out the following troops, under Colonel MaCarey of the 1st Infantry:

Co's A and B — 1st Infantry
A and B — 2nd Infantry
Troops B and C, First Squad, Cavalry
Chaffee light artillery.

These units reached Lake City March 20, and were quartered in the

With the arrival of the militia, wholesale arrests were made. The military officers, vidi officers, mine managers, citizens, and the Italian Gonsul reached an agreement that prisoners were to be released, if the single men would leave the county within three days and the married men within sixty days. The employees of the companies involved could board where they pleased. This agreement received general approval, except by the Italian Consol and the Italian strikers. However, since the company managers were already resolved not to employ Italian worders, these

with the cross section of lawlessness here recounted, it is not difficult visualize the constant vigilance necessary to maintain even a minimum to law enforcement. Credit should be given to the strong leadership which resevered through the early years and brought order and respect for law



Miner's Cabin on Henson Creek





WHEN OUTTO MEARS, pioneer financier, developer, and railroad magnate of the San Juan arca, died in 1981, list last request was that his body be cremated and the ashes be scattered over the divide between Lake City and Silverton, high in the mountains he had fought and conqueved and held in Silverton at the Episcopal Church, with Bishop Ingley officialing. This was an unusual expression of develotion to a goographical area, and an

The busy tourist season bolsters Lake City's economy today, but there is definite distinction between the permanent and the transient residents. The people of Lake City are friendly and cooperative in making their summer visitors welcome and comfortable, but there is a certain inhorent nuality which forms an invisible harrier to notest the seement of the past,

which still may be found in the life of the community.

When the last tourist leaves, Lake City does not become a stagnatic, obligated now axising for the next vacation season. These who remain single the property of the control of the season of the control of the prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle art and time-tested recipes still prepared foods are available, but needle are also as a supplication of the control of the control

Of the original mining camps of the San Juan Country, only four remain: Ourny, Silverton, Telluride, and Lake City. The others are now only landmarks, with decaying, delapidated log structures as reminders of a more prospersous era. The social and cultural background of the remaining towns contributed to their present status of endersance, and influenced to the contribution of the

important.

There is an elusive, yet sanguine, tie with the past. It is felt by those who knew Lake City in its early days. This is simply and sincerely expressed in this copy-book letter found between the chinked logs of an 1876 cabin in Lake City:

August 28, 1935

Fifty-four years ago, in 1880, my father, Thomas G. Higgins, bought this house, and here he, my mother, and I lived 'til 1887. At that time I was twelve years old, and the happiest memories of my boyhood center at this spot.

When we were approaching Lake City last Saturday, August

ONE OF THE EARLIEST CABINS in Lake City. It was built in 1876.
There is a cellar under the back room which was used as a "hiding-place" is case of an Indian attack. This is the present summer home of the author.

24th., I wondered if this old house would be still standing, and you who take the trouble to read, can imagine my pleasure when I found it practically unchanged, and my delight when I found I could have it all for our own for a few days.

It has been great fun drawing water from the old well and going fifty years ago. Not all of them came true, but coming back to this

To me this is about the most splendid spot in all the world. the little city nestled in among these old mountains. And on a starry night it's just next door to heaven. Then, to complete my happiness, I found many boys and girls I knew fifty years ago, and their children and grand-children, splendid, happy, cheerful people, all of them.

Good-bye old house, old happy home! Perhaps I will never see you again, but you will always be a happy memory.

John G. Higgins

Bardwell, George D., and Cohn, Harry L. Ordinances of Lake City, Colorado. Lake City,

Beardsley, Isaac Haight. Echoes from Peak and Plain; or Talex of Life, War, Travel, and

Darley, George M. Pioneering in the San Juan. Personal Reminiscences of Work Done in

H. Bevell Co., 1899. Hall, Frank. History of the State of Colorado, Embracing Accounts of the Pre-Historic and

Industrial and Political Transistion from 1858 to 1800. 4 Vols. Chicago: Blakely Printing Co., 1889-95. Jocknick, Sidney. Early Days on the Western Slope of Colorado and Campfire Chats with

Lavender, David. The Big Divide. New York: Doubleday and Co., Inc., 1940. Nankivell, John H. History of the Military Organizations of The State of Colorado. Denver:

W. H. Kistler Stationery Co., 1935. Rex. Wallace H. (comp.). Colorado Newspapers Bibliography, 1859-1933. Denver: Bibliograph-

Stone, Wilher F. (ed.), History of Colorado. 4 Vols. Chicago: S. J. Clarke Publishing Co.,

ARTICLES AND PAMPHLETS

Franklin, George C. "Biography of Mary Bassett Franklin," Pioneers of the San Juan Country. Irvine John Doer, and Bancroft, Howland, Geology and Ore Deposits Near Lake City,

Mott, Mary Kirker. "At Lake City and Telluride," Pioneers of the San Juan Country, Vol. II.

pp. 87-100. Searcy, Helen M. "Otto Mears," Pioneers of the San Juan Country, Vol. I. Colorado Springs,

Simmons, William M. "Reminiscences of A Pioneer," Montrose Daily Press. Montrose, Colorado: March 4, 1938.

Smoot, Lillian Richart. "Pioneers of Hinsdale County," Pioneers of the San Juan Country.

Vinton, L. A. Resources and Mineral Wealth of Hinsdale County, Colorado, Lake City. Colorado: L. A. Vinton and Co., 1895.

Wright, Carolyn. A History of Hinsdale County, Colorado. Privately published. 1980.

County Assessor, Hinsdale County, Colorado, Abstract of Assessment Roll, 11 Vols., 1877-

County Clerk and Recorder, Hinsdale County, Colorado. Articles of Incorporation and Crystal Lake Chapter Number 34, A.F. and A.M., Lake City, Colorado, Charter, Framed

District Court, Hinsdale County, Colorado. Judgment Book. Vol. I, 1877 to 1916. Hinsdale County Court House.

Gurley, William F. E. Letter to William C. Blair, July 25, 1932. Sürer World files, Lake City, Colorado. Higgins, John G. Open letter in copy-book found in cabin in Lake City. In possession of author,

Liska, Emma L. "Early History of Lake City and Hinsdale County." Unpublished article in personal possession of author.

Minutes of the Session of the First Presbyterism Church of Lake City, Colorado. Currently.

in possession of Emma L. Liska, Lake City, Colorado. Currently.

Order of Eastern Star, Lake City, Colorado, Chapter Number 38. Charter. Framed original
located in Lodge Hall in Lake City.

Record of the First Baptist Church of Lake City, Colorado. September 9, 1883 to October 3, 1946. Currently in possession of Mabel B. Rawson, Lake City, Colorado. Smith, Clair. Invitation to execution of Alfred Packer, sent to L. C. Dana, May 2, 1883. Now in provession of H. C. Luch.

NEWSPAPERS

Direce Papalsien Deuter, Cadeada, Jianury, 1882.
Deuter Tribuse Direct Cadeada, 1897.
Deuter Cadeada, 18

Doras, Mr., Amis, Lake City, Colorado, July 12, 3, 1900.
Harlan, Mr., James, Lake City, Colorado, July 19, 200.
Heath, Mr., H. G., Lake City, Colorado, July 19, 200.
Heath, Mr., H. G., Lake City, Colorado, July 18, 1900.
Heath, Mr., Lake City, Colorado, July 19, 23, 1900.
Mr., Rajhi, Lake City, Colorado, July 16, 1900.
Heath, Mr., Casal, Lake City, Colorado, July 16, 1900.
Pavich, Mr., Mille, Lake City, Colorado, July 16, 1900.
Pavich, Mr., Mille, Lake City, Colorado, July 19, 1900.

GUNNISON PUBLIC LIBRARY